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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Navidtar International Corporation is a holding company and its principal operating subsidiary is
International Truck and Engine Corporation (International), formerly Navisar International
Transportation Corp. As used hereafter, "Navisa™ or "company" refers to Navistar International
Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries.

Navistar operates in three principal industry segments: truck, engine (collectively called
“manufacturing operations”) and financial services. The company’s truck segment is engaged in the
manufacture and marketing of medium and heavy trucks, including school buses. The company’s
engine segment is engaged in the design and manufacture of mid-range diesel engines. The truck
segment operates primarily in the United States (U.S.) and Canada as well as in Mexico, Brazil and
other selected export markets while the engine segment operates primarily in the U.S. and Brazil.
Based on assets and revenues, the truck and engine segments represent the majority of the company’s
business activities. The financial services operations consist of Navistar Financial Corporation (NFC), its
domestic insurance subsidiary and the company’s foreign finance and insurance subsidiaries. Industry

and geographic segment data for 2000, 1999 and 1998 is summarized in Note 14 to the Financial
Statements, which isincluded in Item 8.

PRODUCTSAND SERVICES

The following table illustrates the percentage of the company’s salesof products and services by
product line based on dollar amount:

YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31,

PRODUCT LINE 2000 1999 1998
Class 5, 6 and 7 medium trucks
and SChool BUSES.......coreeeee e 34% 32% 33%
Class 8 hEaVY tTUCKS.......coureeeemecesenseseesssssseessenns 32% 37% 38%
TrUCK SEVICE PATS ... reeeeeeeeeeeeessereeseeesseeeessenese X% 8% %
Q0.7 1 10 SRR 75% 77% 80%
Engine (including service parts) .........coeeeene. 21% 19% 17%
FINaNGa SEIVICES.......couumveeeeesssmeseesssssssassesssssnes 4% 4% 3%
QL= PO 100% 100% 100%

The truck segment manufactures and distributes a full line of diesel-powered trucks and school
buses in the common carrier, private carrier, government/service, leasing, construction, energy/petroleum
and student transportation markets. The truck segment also provides customers with proprietary
products needed to support the Internationald truck and bus lines, together with a wide selection of
other standard truck and trailer aftermarket parts. The company offers diesel-powered trucks and
school buses because of their improved fuel economy, ease of serviceability and greater durability over
gasoline-powered vehicles.



PRODUCTS AND SERVICES (continued)

The truck and bus manufacturing operations in the U.S., Canada, Mexico and Brazil consist
principally of the assembly of components manufactured by its suppliers, although the company
produces its own mid-range diesel truck engines, sheet meta components (including cabs) and
miscellaneous other parts.

The engine segment designs and manufactures diesel engines for use in the company’s Class 5, 6
and 7 medium trucks and school buses and selected Class 8 heavy truck models, and for sale to
original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) in the U.S. and Mexico. This segment also sells engines
for industrial, agricultural and marine applications. In addition, the engine segment provides
customers with proprietary products needed to support the Internationala engine lines, together with
a wide selection of other standard engine and aftermarket parts. In February 1999, Navistar acquired
a 50% interest in Maxion International Motores, S.A., the largest producer of diesel engines in South
America. The joint venture produces the current Maxion products in addition to the Navistar 7.3
liter (7.3L) V-8 Turbo Diesel Engine. Based upon information published by R.L. Polk & Company,
diesel-powered Class 5, 6 and 7 medium truck and bus shipments represented 91.4% of all medium
truck and bus shipments for fiscal 2000 in the U.S. and Canada.

The financial services segment provides retail, wholesale and lease financing of products sold by the
truck segment and its dealers within the U.S. as well as the company’s wholesale accounts and selected
retail accounts receivable. NFC's insurance subsidiary provides commercial physica damage and
liability insurance to the truck segment’ s dealers and retail customers and to the general public through
an independent insurance agency system. The foreign finance subsidiaries’ primary business is to
provide wholesale, retail and lease financing to the Mexican operations’ dealers and retail customers.

THE MEDIUM AND HEAVY TRUCK INDUSTRY

The markets in which Navistar competes are subject to considerable volatility as they move in
response to cycles in the overall business environment and are particularly sendtive to the industrial
sector, which generates a significant portion of the freight tonnage hauled. Government regulation has
impacted and will continue to impact trucking operations and the efficiency and specifications of
eguipment.

The following table shows industry retail deliveriesin the combined U.S. and Canadian markets for
the five years ended October 31, in thousands of units:

ho

YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31
2000 1999 1998 1997 1996
Class 5, 6 and 7 medium trucks
and school BUSES......ceeeeeeeeinans 181.7 179.5 160.0 150.6 145
Class8 heavy truckS.......ceeeeeeeereeeeernennne. 258.3 286.0 232.0 196.8 195
L7 440.0 465.5 392.0 347.4 341

Source: Monthly data derived from materials produced by Ward's Communicationsin the U.S. and
the Canadian V ehicle Manufacturers Association.

Industry retail deliveries of Class 5 through 8 trucks and school busesin the Mexican market were
32,900 units, 23,300 units and 21,800 units in 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively, based on monthly
data provided by the Associacion Nacional de Productores de Autobuses, Camionesy Tractocamiones.

N



THE MEDIUM AND HEAVY TRUCK INDUSTRY (continued)

The company’sfirst full year of operationsin Brazil was 1999. Industry retail deliveries of Class5
through 8 trucks in the Brazilian market were 27,800 units in 2000 and 22,400 unitsin 1999 based on
data provided by the Associacao Nacional dos Fabricantes de Veiculos.

The Class 5 through 8 truck markets in the U.S., Canada, Mexico and Brazil are highly competitive.
Major U.S. domestic competitors include PACCAR, Ford and Genera Motors, as well as foreign-
controlled domestic manufacturers, such as Freightliner and Sterling (DaimlerChrysler), Mack (Renault)
and Volvo. In addition, manufacturers from Japan such as Hino, Isuzu, Nissan and Mitsubishi are
competing in the U.S. and Canadian markets. In Mexico, the major domestic competitors are Kenmex
(PACCAR) and Mercedes (DaimlerChrysler). In Brazil, the competition is with Mercedes
(DaimlerChrysler), Volkswagen, Scania and Volvo. The intensity of this competition results in price
discounting and margin pressures throughout the industry. In addition to the influence of price,
market position is driven by product quality, engineering, styling, utility and distribution.

From October 31, 2000, the company’s truck segment currently estimates $250 million in capital
spending and $170 million in development expense through 2004 for development of its next
generation vehicles.

TRUCK MARKET SHARE

The company delivered 118,200 Class5 through 8 trucks, including school buses, in the U.S. and
Canadain fiscal 2000 which was comparable to the 119,300 units delivered in 1999. Navigtar's market
share in the combined U.S. and Canadian Class 5 through 8 truck market increased to 26.9% from
25.6% in 1999.

The company delivered 7,700 Class 5 through 8 trucks, including school buses, in Mexico in 2000,
a 60% increase from the 4,800 units delivered in 1999. Navistar's combined share of the Class 5
through 8 truck market in Mexico was 23.4%in 2000 and 20.7% in 1999.

The company delivered 600 trucks in Brazil in 2000, a 20% increase from the 500 units
delivered in 1999. Navistar’s share of the truck market in Brazil was 2.1% in both 2000 and 1999.

MARKETING AND DISTRIBUTION

Navistar’s truck products are distributed in virtually all key markets in the U.S. and Canada. The
company’s truck distribution and service network in these countries was composed of 888, 927 and
945 dealers and retail outlets at October 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. Included in these totals
were 494, 517 and 524 secondary and associate locations at October 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998,
respectively. The company also has a dealer network in Mexico composed of 68, 60 and 44 deder
locations at October 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively, and a dealer network in Brazil composed of
17, 14 and six dealer locations at October 31, 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively.

Retail dealer activity is supported by three regional operations in the U.S. and general offices in
Canada, Mexico and Brazil. The company has a national account sales group, responsible for 94 major
U.S. national account customers. Navistar's network of 15 Used Truck Centers in the U.S. provides
trade-in support to the company’s dealers and national accounts group, and markets all makes and
models of reconditioned used trucks to owner-operators and fleet buyers.



MARKETING AND DISTRIBUTION (continued)

In the U.S. and Canada, the company operates seven regional parts distribution centers, which allow
it to offer 24 hour availability and same day shipment of the parts most frequently requested by
customers. The company also operates parts distribution centersin Mexico and Brazil.

ENGINE AND FOUNDRY

Navistar is the leading supplier of mid-range diesel engines in the 160-300 horsepower range
according to data supplied by Power Systems Research of Minneapolis, Minnesota.

Navistar has an agreement to supply its 7.3L electronically controlled diesel engine to Ford Motor
Company (Ford) through the year 2002 for use in al of Ford's diesel-powered light trucks and vans.
Shipments to Ford account for approximately 92% of the engine segment’s 7.3L shipments. Total
engine units shipped reached 392,900 in 2000, a 5% increase over 1999. Thisexcludes 54,100 units
shipped by Maxion International Motores, S.A., the company’s 50% owned joint venture in Brazil, to
its outside customers. The company’s shipments of engines to all OEMs totaled 304,400 units in 2000,
an increase of 6% from the 286,500 units shipped in 1999. During 1997, Navigtar entered into a 10-
year agreement, effective with model year 2003, to supply Ford with a successor engine to the current
7.3L product for use in its diesel-powered super duty trucks and vans (over 8,500 Ibs. GVW). In fiscal
2000, the company finalized an agreement with Ford to supply diesel engines for certain under 8,500
Ibs. GVW light duty trucks and sport utility vehicles. This contract extends through 2012. To support
this program, the company is constructing an engine assembly operation in Huntsville, Alabama, which
will be fully operational by 2004.

From October 31, 2000, the company currently estimates $260 million in capital spending and
$115 million in development expense through 2003 for the manufacture and development of its next
generation version of diesel engines. Included in these amounts is the company’s investment in
Huntsville, Alabama.

FINANCIAL SERVICES

NFC is a financial services organization that provides wholesale, retail and lease financing of new
and used trucks sold by the company and its deders in the U.S. NFC aso finances the company’s
wholesale accounts and selected retail accounts receivable. Sales of new products (including trailers) of
other manufacturers are also financed regardless of whether designed or customarily sold for use with
the company's truck products. In both 2000 and 1999, NFC provided wholesale financing for 96% of
the new truck units sold by the company to its dealers and distributors in the U.S., and retail and lease
financing for 16% of all new truck units sold or leased by the company to retail customers.

NFC's wholly owned domestic insurance subsidiary, Harco Nationa Insurance Company (Harco),
provides commercial physical damage and liability insurance coverage to the company's dealers and
retail customers and to the general public through an independent insurance agency system. On
November 30, 2000, NFC’ s board of directors approved a plan to sell Harco within the next fiscal year
as further described in Note 10 to the Financial Statements.

Navistar's wholly owned subsidiaries, Arrendadora Financiera Navigtar, Servicios Financieros
Navistar and Navistar Comercial, provide wholesde, retail and lease financing to the truck segment’s
dealers and customersin Mexico.

Harbour Assurance Company of Bermuda Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the company,
offers a variety of programs to the company, including genera liability insurance, ocean cargo
coverage for shipments to and from foreign distributors and reinsurance coverage for various company
policies.



IMPORTANT SUPPORTING OPERATIONS

International Truck and Engine Corporation Canada has an agreement with a subsidiary of Genera
Electric Capital Canada, Inc. to provide financing for Canadian dealers and customers.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Research and development activities, which are directed toward the introduction of new products
and improvements of existing products and processes used in their manufacture, totaled $226 million,
$207 million and $138 million for 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

BACKLOG

The backlog of unfilled truck orders (subject to cancellation or return in certain events) at October
31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, was $1,258 million, $3,352 million and $4,505 million, respectively.

Although the backlog of unfilled ordersis one of many indicators of market demand, other factors
such as changes in production rates, available capacity, new product introductions and competitive
pricing actions may affect point-in-time comparisons.

EMPLOYEES

The company employed 17,000, 18,600 and 17,600 individuals at October 31, 2000, 1999 and
1998, respectively, worldwide. Thereis an employment reduction anticipated in 2001 as discussed in
Note 10 to the Financial Statements.

LABOR RELATIONS

At October 31, 2000, the United Automobile, Aerospace and Agricultural Implement Workers of
America (UAW) represented 7,700 of the company's active employees in the U.S., and the National
Automobile, Aerospace, and Agricultural Implement Workers of Canada (CAW) represented 1,300 of
the company's active employees in Canada. Other unions represented 2,000 of the company's active
employeesin the U.S. The company’s master contract with the UAW expires on October 1, 2002. The
collective bargaining agreement with the CAW expires on June 1, 2002. The current CAW contract
alows the company to improve productivity through better use of work assignments and manpower
utilization.

PATENTSAND TRADEMARKS

Navigtar continuously obtains patents on its inventions and owns a significant patent portfolio.
Additionally, many of the components, which Navistar purchases for its products, are protected by
patents that are owned or controlled by the component manufacturer. Navistar has licenses under third-
party patents relating to its products and their manufacture and grants licenses under its patents. The
monetary royalties paid or received under these licenses are not significant. No particular patent or
group of patentsis considered by the company to be essential to its business as awhole.

Navistar's primary trademarks are an important part of its worldwide sales and marketing efforts
and provide instant identification of its products and services in the marketplace. To support these
efforts, Navistar maintains, or has pending, registrations of its primary trademarks in those countries in
which it does business or expects to do business.



RAW MATERIALSAND ENERGY SUPPLIES

The company purchases raw materials, parts and components from numerous outside suppliers, but
relies upon some suppliers for a substantial number of components for its truck and engine products. A
majority of the company’s requirements for raw materials and supplies is filled by single-source
suppliers.

The impact of an interruption in supply will vary by commodity. Some parts are generic to the
industry while others are of a proprietary design requiring unique tooling, which would require time to
recreate. However, the company's exposure to a disruption in production as a result of an interruption
of raw materials and suppliesis no greater than the industry asawhole. In order to remedy any losses
resulting from an interruption in supply, the company maintains contingent business interruption
insurance for storms, fire and water damage.

While the company believes that it has adequate assurances of continued supply, the inability of a
supplier to deliver could have an adverse effect on production a certain of the company’s
manufacturing locations. The company’s exposure in Mexico and Brazil to an interruption in local
supply could result in an inability to meet local content requirements.

Navistar is currently meeting demand for Internationala engines, for both Internationala truck and
other OEMs. There are currently no engine component supplier capacity issues. The expansion of
engine capacity in Brazil and in Huntsville, Alabama, should enable Navistar to meet any future external
customer needs in the light truck diesel market for the foreseeable future.

IMPACT OF GOVERNMENT REGULATION

Truck and engine manufacturers continue to face heavy governmental regulation of their products,
especialy in the areas of environment and safety. The company believes its products comply with all
applicable environmental and safety regulations.

As adiesel engine manufacturer, the company has incurred research, development and tooling costs
to design its engine product linesto meet United States Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA)
and Cadlifornia Air Resources Board (CARB) emission requirements that will come into effect after
2000. The company intends to provide engines that satisfy CARB’s emission standards in 2002 for
engines used in vehicles from 8,501 to 14,000 |bs. GVW, as well as heavy duty engines that comply with
more stringent CARB and U.S. EPA emission standards for 2004 and later model years. At the same
time, Navistar expectsto be able to meet all of the obligations it agreed to in the Consent Decree signed
in October 1998 with the U.S. EPA and in a Settlement Agreement with CARB concerning aleged
excess emissions of nitrogen oxides.

U.S. EPA rulemaking is currently underway for emission standards for heavy duty engines and
low sulfur diesel requirements for 2007 and later model years. Navistar is actively participating in this
rulemaking to ensure that its products can comply.

In 1999, U.S. EPA and CARB promulgated new emission standards for light duty diesel engines,
which cover Navistar's new V-6 diesel engines. On the basis of available technology, compliance with
the 2007 standards is dependent upon the availability of low sulfur diesel fuel that is the subject of U.S.
EPA’s 2007 rulemaking. However, Navistar believes that CARB has exceeded its statutory authority in
promulgating these emission standards and in November 1999 filed suit to overturn them. Evenif the
emission standards are not overturned, Navistar does not believe they will have a material effect on the
company’s financial condition or operating results.



IMPACT OF GOVERNMENT REGULATION (continued)

Canadian and Mexican heavy duty engine emission regulations essentially mirror those of the U.S.
EPA, except that compliance in Mexico is conditioned on availability of low sulfur diesel fuel. The
company’ s engines comply with Canadian and Mexican emission regulations, as well as those of Brazil.

Truck manufacturers are also subject to various noise standards imposed by federal, state and local
regulations. The engine is one of a truck's primary noise sources, and the company, therefore, works
closely with OEMsto develop strategies to reduce engine noise. The company is also subject to the
National Traffic and Motor Vehicle Safety Act (Safety Act) and Federa Motor Vehicle Safety
Standards (Safety Standards) promulgated by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration.
The company believesit isin compliance with the Safety Act and the Safety Standards.

Expenditures to comply with various environmental regulations relating to the control of air, water
and land pollution at production facilities and to control noise levels and emissions from the
company’s products have not been material except for two sites formerly owned by the company:
Wisconsin Steel in Chicago, lllinois, and Solar Turbine in San Diego, California. In 1994, the company
recorded a $20 million after-tax charge as aloss of discontinued operations for environmental liabilities
and cleanup cost at these two stes. It is not expected that the costs of compliance with foreseeable
environmental requirements will have a material effect on the company’s financial condition or
operating results.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

In North America, the company owns and operates 10 manufacturing and assembly operations,
which contain approximately 10 million square feet of floor space. Of these 10 facilities, six plants
manufacture and assemble trucks and four plants are used by the company’s engine segment. Of these
four plants, two manufacture diesel engines, one manufactures grey iron castings and one manufactures
ductileiron castings. In addition, the company owns or leases other significant properties in the U.S.
and Canada including vehicle and parts distribution centers, sales offices and two engineering centers,
which serve the company’ s truck and engine segments, and its headquarters which is currently located
in Chicago, lllinois. In June 2001, the company’s headquarters will be moved to Warrenville, Illinois.
The company’ s truck assembly facility located in Escobedo, Mexico is encumbered by a lienin favor
of certain lenders of the company as collateral for a $125 million revolving loan agreement.

The truck segment’s principal research and engineering facility is located in Fort Wayne, Indiana,
and the engine segment’s facility is located in Melrose Park, Illinois. In addition, certain research is
conducted at each of the company’ s manufacturing plants.

All of the company’s plants are being utilized and have been adequately maintained, are in good
operating condition and are suitable for its current needs through productive utilization of the facilities.
Navistar is currently tooling a new plant in Huntsville, Alabama, to produce new high technology diesel
engines and a new plant in Tulsa, Oklahoma, to produce integrated conventional school buses. These
facilities, together with planned capital expenditures, are expected to meet the company’s
manufacturing needs in the foreseeabl e future.

A magjority of the activity of the financial services operations is conducted from its leased
headquarters in Rolling Meadows, Illinois. The financial services operations also lease two other office
locations in the U.S. and one in Mexico.



ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The company and its subsidiaries are subject to various claims arising in the ordinary course of
business, and are parties to various legal proceedings that constitute ordinary routine litigation
incidental to the business of the company and its subsidiaries. In the opinion of the company’s
management, none of these proceedings or claims are material to the business or the financial condition
of the company.

ITEM4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

Not applicable

PART Il

ITEM5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Navistar International Corporation common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, the
Chicago Stock Exchange and the Pacific Exchange under the abbreviated stock symbol “NAV.”
Information regarding high and low market price per share of common stock for each quarter of 2000
and 1999 is included in Note 19 to the Financial Statements on page 59. There were approximately
38,700 owners of common stock at October 31, 2000.

Holders of common stock are entitled to receive dividends when and as declared by the board of
directors out of funds legally available therefor, provided that, so long as any shares of the company’s
preferred stock and preference stock are outstanding, no dividends (other than dividends payable in
common stock) or other distributions (including purchases) may be made with respect to the common
stock unless full cumulative dividends, if any, on the shares of preferred stock and preference stock
have been paid. Under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware, dividends may only be
paid out of surplus or out of net profits for the fiscal year in which the dividend is declared or the
preceding fiscal year, and no dividend may be paid on common stock at any time during which the
capital of outstanding preferred stock or preference stock exceeds the net assets of the company.

The company has not paid dividends on the common stock since 1980. The company does not
expect to pay cash dividends on the common stock in the foreseeable future, and is subject to
restrictions under the indentures for the $100 million 7% Senior Notes and the $250 million 8% Senior
Subordinated Notes on the amount of cash dividends the company may pay and is subject to certain
debt to equity ratios under the $125 million Mexican credit facility which may indirectly limit its ability
to pay dividends.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Thisinformation is included in the table “Five-Year Summary of Selected Financial and Statistical
Data” on page 60 of this Form 10-K.



ITEM7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND FINANCIAL CONDITION

Certain statements under this caption that are not purely historical constitute “forward-looking
statements” under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and involve risks and
uncertainties. These forward-looking statements are based on current management expectations as
of the date made. The company assumes no obligation to update any forward-looking statements.
Navistar International Corporation’s actual results may differ significantly from the results discussed
in such forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause such a difference include, but are not
limited to, those discussed under the captions ““Restructuring Charge” and “Business Environment.”

Navistar International Corporation is a holding company and its principal operating subsidiary is
International Truck and Engine Corporation (International), formerly known as Navistar
International Transportation Corp. In this discussion and analysis, “company” or “Navistar” refers
to Navistar International Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries. Navistar operates in three
principal industry segments: truck, engine (collectively called “manufacturing operations”) and
financial services. The company’s truck segment is engaged in the manufacture and marketing of
Class 5 through 8 trucks, including school buses. The truck segment also provides customers with
proprietary products needed to support the International® truck and bus lines, together with a wide
selection of other standard truck and trailer aftermarket parts. The truck segment operates primarily
in the United States (U.S.) and Canada as well as in Mexico, Brazil and other selected export markets.
The company’s engine segment is engaged in the design and manufacture of mid-range diesel engines.
The engine segment also provides customers with proprietary products needed to support the
International® engine line, together with a wide selection of other standard engine and aftermarket
parts. The engine segment operates primarily in the U.S. and Brazil. The financial services segment
provides wholesale, retail and lease financing, and domestic commercial physical damage and liability
insurance coverage to the company’s dealers and retail customers and to the general public through
an independent insurance agency system. The financial services segment operates in the U.S.,
Mexico and Bermuda.

The discussion and analysis reviews the operating and financial results, and liquidity and capital
resources of the manufacturing and financial services operations. Manufacturing operations reflect
the financial results of the financial services operations included on a one-line basis under the equity
method of accounting. Financial services operations include Navistar Financial Corporation (NFC),
its domestic insurance subsidiary and the company’s foreign finance and insurance subsidiaries. See
Note 1 to the Financial Statements.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The company reported net income of $159 million for 2000, or $2.58 per diluted common
share, which includes an after-tax corporate restructuring charge of $190 million that is further
described under the caption “Restructuring Charge”. Net income was $544 million, or $8.20 per
diluted common share in 1999, and $299 million, or $4.11 per diluted common share in 1998. Net
income in 1999 and 1998 included tax valuation allowance adjustments of $178 million and $45
million, respectively. Diluted earnings per share excluding the tax valuation allowance adjustments
and the restructuring charge were $5.67, $5.52, and $3.47 in 2000, 1999, and 1998, respectively.

The company’s manufacturing operations reported income before income taxes of $139 million
in 2000 compared with $474 million in 1999 and $321 million in 1998. Pretax income for the
manufacturing operations was reduced $287 million in 2000 by the effect of the corporate
restructuring charge. The truck segment’s profit decreased by 39% in 2000 while revenues decreased
by 4%, compared to increases in profit and revenue of 20% and 6% in 1999, respectively. The
engine segment’s profit increased by 13% in 2000 and 58% in 1999 compared to revenue increases
of 2% and 21%, respectively. During 2000 the company’s truck segment was adversely affected by
decreased industry volume related to the declining overall industry as well as reduced truck pricing and
increases in material costs. The engine segment’s profit and revenue increases during 2000 were, in
part, due to record levels of engine shipments to other original equipment manufacturers (OEMs).
The truck and engine segments’



RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

profit increases in 1999 were attributable to economies of scale in truck and engine production,
improved truck pricing and various other cost improvements.

The financial services segment’s profit in 2000 decreased $4 million from 1999 primarily due to
a decrease in NFC’s pretax income from continuing operations. NFC’s pretax income from
continuing operations in 2000 was $92 million compared to $96 million in 1999. The decrease was
primarily due to lower gains on the sale of retail notes and higher losses on retail receivables,
partially offset by higher average finance receivable balances. The financial services segment’s
profit in 1999 was $28 million higher than in 1998, primarily resulting from an increase in NFC’s
pretax income and a legal settlement in favor of an insurance subsidiary of the company. The effect
of the planned sale of Harco National Insurance Company (Harco), a wholly owned subsidiary of
NFC, is reflected as a discontinued operation in NFC’s financial statements, but the expected loss on
disposal is included as a component of the restructuring charge in Navistar’s consolidated financial
statements, which is further described under the caption “Restructuring Charge” and in Note 10 to
the Financial Statements.

Sales and Revenues

Sales and revenues of $8,451 million in 2000 were 2% lower than the $8,642 million reported in
1999, which was 10% higher than the $7,885 million reported in 1998. Sales of manufactured products
totaled $8,119 million in 2000, 2% lower than the $8,326 million reported in 1999, which was 9%
above the $7,629 reported in 1998.

U.S. and Canadian industry sales of Class 5 through 8 trucks totaled 440,000 units in 2000, 5% lower
than the 465,500 units in 1999, which was 19% greater than the 392,000 units sold in 1998. Class 8
heavy truck sales totaled 258,300 units in 2000, a 10% decrease from the 286,000 units sold in 1999,
which was a 23% increase over the 232,000 units sold in 1998. Industry sales of Class 5, 6, and 7
medium trucks, including school buses, totaled 181,700 units in 2000, consistent with the 179,500 units
sold in 1999, which was 12% above the 160,000 units sold in 1998. Industry sales of school buses,
which accounted for 19% of the medium truck market, were 33,900 units in 2000, nearly unchanged
from 1999, which experienced a 3% increase over 1998.

While the industry experienced a significant decline, the company’s market share in the
combined U.S. and Canadian Class 5 through 8 truck market for 2000 increased to 26.9% from
25.6% in 1999. Market share was 29.1% in 1998.

Total engine shipments reached 392,900 units, a 5% increase over 1999. This excludes the
54,100 units shipped by Maxion International Motores S.A., the company’s 50% owned joint
venture in Brazil, to its outside customers. Shipments of mid-range diesel engines by the company to
other OEMs during 2000 were a record 304,400 units, a 6% increase over the 286,500 units shipped
in 1999, which represented a 34% increase over 1998. Higher shipments to Ford Motor Company
(Ford) to meet consumer demand for light trucks and vans which use this engine was the primary
cause of the increases in both 2000 and 1999.

Finance and insurance revenue was $288 million for 2000, a $32 million increase over 1999
revenue of $256 million, which was $55 million higher than 1998 revenue of $201 million. The
increase in 2000 was primarily a result of an increase in lease financing, while the increase in 1999
was impacted significantly by greater wholesale and retail financing activity.

The company recorded other income of $44 million in 2000. This decreased from the $60
million reported for 1999, which was an increase of $5 million from 1998. Lower cash balances,
which reduced interest income, was a significant factor in the decrease in 2000, while the increase in
1999 was primarily due to a legal settlement in favor of an insurance subsidiary of the company.



RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)

Costs and Expenses

Manufacturing gross margin was 16.8% in 2000, compared with 18.0% in 1999, and 15.3% in
1998. Excluding the effect of the restructuring charge, the company’s manufacturing gross margin
was 17.0% in 2000. The decrease in margin primarily results from lower new truck pricing, declines
in used truck values and increases in material costs. The gross margin increase experienced in 1999
was primarily due to improved pricing and improved operating efficiencies.

Postretirement benefits expense of $146 million in 2000 decreased $70 million from $216
million in 1999, which increased $42 million from $174 million reported in 1998. The 2000
decrease is primarily due to lower pension expense as well as lower profit sharing provisions to the
retiree trust, which was partially offset by increased health and life insurance expense. The 1999
increase was mainly a result of higher retiree healthcare expense and higher profit sharing provisions
to the retiree trust. See Note 2 to the Financial Statements.

Engineering and research expense in 2000 was $280 million, which was consistent with the $281
million reported in 1999, but an increase from the $192 million in 1998. The increase in 1999 over
1998 reflected the company’s continuing investment in its next generation vehicle (NGV) and next
generation diesel (NGD) programs. NGV represented 50% of the increase while NGD accounted for
another 25%.

Sales, general and administrative expense of $488 million in 2000 was comparable to the $486
million in 1999, which was higher than the $427 million reported in 1998. The 1999 increase was
primarily due to marketing programs and the operational implementation of the company’s
integrated truck and engine strategies.

Interest expense increased to $146 million in 2000 from $135 million in 1999 and $105 million
in 1998. The rise in 2000 was partially attributable to the financial services segment’s increased
borrowing costs related to higher average receivable funding requirements and higher average interest
rates. The increase in 1999 was, in part, driven by higher average receivable funding requirements
due to higher sales.

Other expense totaled $87 million in 2000, compared with $71 million in 1999 and $79 million
in 1998. The increase in 2000 is due to higher insurance claims and underwriting fees.

RESTRUCTURING CHARGE

In October 2000, the company incurred charges for restructuring, asset write-downs, loss on
anticipated sale of business and other exit costs totaling $306 million as part of an overall plan to
restructure its manufacturing and corporate operations (“Plan of Restructuring”). The following are
the major restructuring, integration and cost reduction initiatives included in the Plan of
Restructuring:

Replacement of current steel cab trucks with a new line of high performance next generation
vehicles (NGV) and a concurrent realignment of the company’s truck manufacturing
facilities

Closure of certain operations and exit of certain activities

Launch of the next generation technology diesel engines

Consolidation of corporate operations

Realignment of the bus and truck dealership network and termination of various dealership
contracts



RESTRUCTURING CHARGE (continued)

Of the pretax restructuring charge totaling $306 million, $124 million represents non-cash charges.
Approximately $8 million was spent in 2000 and the remaining $174 million is expected to be spent as
follows: 2001 - $66 million, 2002 - $42 million and 2003 and beyond - $66 million. The total cash
outlay is expected to be funded from existing cash balances and internally generated cash flows from
operations. The specific actionsincluded in the Plan of Restructuring are expected to be substantially
complete by November 2001 and the charge reflects costs and expenses that are incremental to the
current period and are directly related to the Plan of Restructuring.

The actions taken to implement the Plan of Restructuring are expected to generate approximately
$100 million in annualized savings for the company, primarily from lower salaries and benefit cogts,
beginning in fiscal 2001. These savings are expected to be more than offset by lower revenue from
expected industry driven reductions in annual truck and engine sales volumes.

Components of the restructuring charge are as follows:

Total Amount Balance

(Millions of dollars) Charges Incurred October 31,

2000
Severance and other benefits $ 104 $ (7) $ 97
Inventory write-downs 20 (20) -
Other asset write-downs and losses 93 (93) -
Lease terminations 33 - 33
Loss on anticipated sale of business 17 - 17
EXit costs 39 (1) 38

The severance and other benefit codts, asset write-downs and losses, lease terminations, loss on
anticipated sale of business, dealer termination and exit cods, totaling $286 million, are presented as
“Restructuring and loss on anticipated sale of business” in the Statement of Income. Inventory write-
down costs of $20 million are included in “Cost of products sold related to restructuring” in the
Statement of Income.

A description of the significant components of the restructuring charge is as follows:

Pursuant to the Plan of Restructuring, 3,100 positions will be eliminated throughout the
company. Severance and other benefit costs relate to the reduction of approximately 2,100
employees from the workforce, primarily in North America. Of the total workforce reductions,
approximately 2,000 will be in International’s Truck Group, of which approximately 1,600 are
production-related employees, with the remainder impacting the Engine, Corporate and
Financial Services Groups. As of October 31, 2000, approximately $7 million had been paid for
severance and other benefits for nearly 500 terminated employees. The remaining reduction of
approximately 1,600 employees will be substantially complete by late 2001 when the majority
of the NGV products will be in production. The reduction is primarily caused by a reduction in
the required workforce to assemble the new medium trucks, a lowering of anticipated industry
demand for certain products and the movement of products between manufacturing facilities.
Benefit costs will extend beyond the completion of the workforce reductions due to the
company’s contractual severance obligations. Additionally, the severance and other benefits
component includes a $12 million non-cash curtailment loss related to the company’s
postretirement benefit plans.



RESTRUCTURING CHARGE (continued)

In 1997, International announced the extension of its engine contract for V-8 engines with Ford
until 2012. This contract extension included the development of new engines that provide
better performance and meet stricter emissions requirements. As part of the Plan of
Restructuring, the company finalized its plan for this new engine. The plan requires that certain
existing production assets be either replaced or disposed. Accordingly, International entered into
sale-leaseback transactions in October 2000 for certain of these affected production assets,
which resulted in the recognition of a $55 million charge for the excess of the carrying amount
over the fair value of these assets. In addition, a charge of $19 million was recorded for the
impairment of other engine production assets held for disposal and $9 million was recognized
for the write-down of engine and service inventory that will be replaced. International’s
preparation for the launch of NGV, a new line of high performance steel cab trucks, which
begins in March 2001 resulted in the write-off of $11 million of excess truck parts and service
inventory related to prior vehicle models. The remainder of the asset write-downs and losses
primarily relate to assets that will be disposed of or abandoned as a direct result of the workforce
reductions.

Lease termination costs include the future obligations under long-term non-cancelable lease
agreements at facilities being vacated following the workforce reductions. This charge primarily
consists of the estimated lease costs, net of probable sublease income, associated with the
cancelation of the company’s corporate office lease at NBC Tower in Chicago, Illinois, which
expires in 2010.

As part of the Plan of Restructuring, management evaluated the strategic importance of certain
of its operations. On November 30, 2000, NFC’s board of directors approved NFC
management’s plan to sell Harco within the next fiscal year. The effect of the anticipated sale
of Harco is reflected as a discontinued operation in NFC’s stand-alone financial statements
because Harco represents a major line of business and a reportable operating segment of NFC.
However, because Harco is not a major line of business nor a separate operating segment of
Navistar, the planned sale of Harco does not qualify for discontinued operations presentation in
accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30 and accordingly, the anticipated
loss on disposal is included as a component of the restructuring charge. Additionally, due to the
anticipated sale of Harco within the next fiscal year, all of Harco’s assets and liabilities have
been classified as current within the Statement of Financial Position. Harco’s revenues and
pretax income, respectively, were $56 million and $1 million in 2000, $44 million and $5
million in 1999, and $42 million and $6 million in 1998. Total assets, primarily marketable
securities, and total liabilities, primarily loss reserves, were $155 million and $94 million,
respectively, as of October 31, 2000 and $142 million and $81 million, respectively, as of
October 31, 1999.

Dealer termination and exit costs of $39 million principally include $17 million of settlement
costs related to the termination of certain dealer contracts in connection with the realignment
of the company’s bus distribution network, and other litigation and exit costs to implement the
restructuring initiatives.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash flow is generated from the manufacture and sale of trucks and mid-range diesel engines and
their associated service parts as well as from product financing and insurance coverage provided to
the company’s dealers and retail customers by the financial services segment. The company’s current
debt ratings have made sales of finance receivables the most economic sources of funding for NFC.
Insurance operations are self-funded.



LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (continued)

The company had working capital of $58 million at October 31, 2000, compared to $340
million at October 31, 1999. The decrease from 1999 to 2000 is primarily due to a net change in
operating assets and liabilities of $181 million as described below, and an increase in notes payable
and current maturities of long-term debt of $290 million.

Consolidated cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities of the company were $501 million
at October 31, 2000, $576 million at October 31, 1999, and $1,064 million at October 31, 1998.
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities available to manufacturing operations totaled $588
million, $1,045 million and $1,010 million at October 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. This
included an intercompany receivable from NFC of $294 million, $659 million and $106 million at
October 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively, which NFC is obligated to repay upon request.

Cash provided by operations during 2000 totaled $686 million, primarily from net income of
$159 million, $199 million of depreciation and amortization, a $124 million non-cash restructuring
charge and a net change in operating assets and liabilities of $181 million. Income tax expense for
2000 was $65 million, composed of cash payments of $29 million to federal and certain state, local
and foreign governments and deferred expense of $56 million, offset by a $20 million research and
development tax credit.

The net source of cash resulting from the change in operating assets and liabilities of $181
million includes a $591 million decrease in receivables primarily due to a net decrease in wholesale
note and account balances. The change also includes a $288 million decrease in accounts payable
primarily due to a decrease in truck production levels and an $89 million decrease in other liabilities
primarily due to a reduction of the payments required by the company’s profit sharing and
performance incentive programs.

During 2000, investment programs used $807 million in cash principally to fund $553 million of
capital expenditures. Capital expenditures were made primarily for the NGV and NGD programs, for
a school bus facility in Tulsa, Oklahoma, and increased capacity, infrastructure and facility
enhancements at the Escobedo, Mexico plant. Investment programs also used cash for a $361
million net increase in retail notes and lease receivables and a $90 million net increase in property
and equipment leased to others. These were partially offset by a net decrease in marketable securities
of $136 million and proceeds from sale-leasebacks of $90 million.

Financing activities provided a $175 million net increase in notes and debt outstanding under the
bank revolving credit facility and other commercial paper programs, and a $151 million net increase
in long-term debt. These were offset by purchases of $151 million of common stock during 2000 in
accordance with board approved spending levels.

Cash flow from the company’s manufacturing operations, financial services operations and
financing capacity is currently sufficient to cover planned investment in the business. Capital
investments for 2001 are expected to be $450 million including approximately $105 million for the
NGV program and $145 million for the NGD program. In addition to the NGV and NGD programs,
capital expenditures are planned to purchase lease options on engine equipment, for a school bus
facility in Tulsa, Oklahoma, for leasehold improvements at the company’s new headquarters and for
normal improvements to existing facilities and products. The company had outstanding capital
commitments of $268 million at October 31, 2000, including $59 million for the NGV program and
$172 million through 2003 for the NGD program.



LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (continued)

The company currently estimates $250 million and $260 million in capital spending and $170
million and $115 million in development expense through 2004 for the NGV and NGD programs,
respectively. Approximately $120 million and $50 million of the development expenses are
planned for 2001. Included in the NGD amounts for capital spending and development expense are
the company’s continuing investment to produce new high technology diesel engines in Huntsville,
Alabama.

The company’s truck assembly facility in Escobedo, Mexico is encumbered by a lien in favor of
certain lenders of the company as collateral for a $125 million revolving Mexican credit facility. At
October 31, 2000, $23 million of a Mexican subsidiary’s receivables were pledged as collateral for bank
borrowings. In addition, as of October 31, 2000, the company is contingently liable for approximately
$169 million for various purchasing commitments, credit guarantees and buyback programs. Based on
historical loss trends, the company’s exposure is not considered material. Additionally, restrictions
under the terms of the senior and senior subordinated notes and the Mexican credit facility include a
limitation on indebtedness and a limitation on certain restricted payments.

NFC has traditionally obtained funds to provide financing to the company’s dealers and retail
customers from sales of finance receivables, commercial paper, short and long-term bank borrowings,
medium and long-term debt and equity capital. At October 31, 2000, NFC’s funding consisted of sold
finance receivables of $2,693 million, bank and other borrowings of $1,395 million, subordinated
debt of $100 million, capital lease obligations of $379 million and equity of $304 million.

Through the asset-backed public market and private placement sales, NFC has been able to fund
fixed rate retail note receivables at rates offered to companies with higher investment grade ratings.
During 2000, NFC sold $1,008 million of retail notes through Navistar Financial Retail Receivables
Corporation (NFRRC), a wholly owned subsidiary of NFC. At October 31, 2000, the aggregate shelf
registration available to NFRRC for the issuance of asset-backed securities was $1,783 million. Also,
at October 31, 2000, Navistar Financial Securities Corporation (NFSC), a wholly owned subsidiary of
NFC, had in place a revolving wholesale note trust that funded $883 million of wholesale notes.

In November 2000, NFC sold $765 million of retail notes, net of unearned finance income,
through NFRRC to an owner trust which, in turn, issued securities which were sold to investors. A $5
million gain was recognized on this sale.

During 2000, NFC sold $300 million of variable funding certificates, through NFSC, to a conduit
sponsored by a major financial institution and reduced its maximum funding capacity from $300
million to $200 million. In July 2000, NFC issued a $212 million tranche of investor certificates.
At October 31, 2000 the revolving wholesale note trust was comprised of three $200 million
tranches of investor certificates maturing in 2003, 2004 and 2008, the $212 million tranche of
investor certificates maturing in 2005 and $125 million of variable funding certificates maturing in
2001.

In October 2000, Truck Retail Instalment Paper Company (TRIP), a special purpose wholly
owned subsidiary of NFC, terminated the previously existing $400 million Asset-Backed Commercial
Paper facility and issued $475 million of a senior class AAA rated and $25 million of a subordinated
class A rated floating rate asset-backed notes. The proceeds were used to purchase eligible receivables
from NFC and to establish a revolving retail warehouse facility for NFC's retail notes and retail
leases, other than fair market value leases.



LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (continued)

In October 2000, NFC entered into a $500 million revolving retail facility as a method to fund
retail notes and finance leases prior to the sale of receivables. Under the terms of this facility, NFC
sells fixed rate retail notes or finance leases to the conduit and pays investors a floating rate of interest.
As required by the rating agencies, NFC purchased an interest rate cap to protect investors against
rising interest rates. To offset the economic cost of this cap, NFC sold an identical interest rate cap.
As of October 31, 2000 the interest rate caps each had a notional amount of $500 million and a net
fair value of zero.

During 2000, NFC established Truck Retail Accounts Corporation (TRAC), a special purpose
wholly owned subsidiary of NFC, for the purpose of securitizing retail accounts receivable. At
October 31, 2000, TRAC had in place a revolving retail account conduit that provides for the
funding of $100 million of eligible retail accounts. As of October 31, 2000 NFC had utilized $80
million of this facility. The facility expires in 2001.

During 2000, NFC established Truck Engine Receivables Finance Corporation, a specia purpose
wholly owned subsidiary of NFC, for the purpose of securitizing engine accounts receivable. In
November 2000, NFC securitized all of its unsecured trade receivables generated by the sale of diesel
engines and engine service parts from Navistar to Ford. The transaction provides for funding of $100
million and expires in 2006.

NFC has a $925 million bank revolving credit facility and a $500 million revolving retail
warehouse facility program, which mature in March 2001 and October 2005, respectively. As of
October 31, 2000, available funding under the bank revolving credit facility and the revolving retail
warehouse facility program was $30 million. When combined with unrestricted cash and cash
equivalents, $72 million remained available to fund the general business purposes of NFC. Subsequent
to October 31, 2000, NFC renegotiated its revolving credit agreement. The new agreement
provides for aggregate borrowings of $820 million and will mature in November 2005. Under the new
revolving credit agreement, Navistar's three Mexican finance subsidiaries will be permitted to borrow
up to $100 million in the aggregate, which will be guaranteed by NFC. The Statement of Financial
Position reflects $775 million of Navistar’s bank revolvers due March 2001 as long-term debt at
October 31, 2000, since Navistar has refinanced $775 million of the obligation on a long-term basis.

In conjunction with NFC’s November 1998 sale of retail receivables, NFC issued an interest rate
cap for the protection of investors in NFC’s debt securities. The notional amount of the cap, $224
million, amortizes based on the expected outstanding principal balance of the sold retail receivables.
Under the terms of the cap agreement, NFC will make payments if interest rates exceed certain levels.
The interest rate cap is recorded at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in income. At
October 31, 2000, the impact on income was not material.

In November 1999, NFC sold $533 million of fixed rate retail receivables on a variable rate basis
and entered into an amortizing interest rate swap agreement to fix the future cash flows of interest paid
to lenders. In March 2000, NFC transferred all of the rights and obligations of the swap to the bank
conduit. The notional amount of the amortizing swap is based on the expected outstanding principal
balance of the sold retail receivables. Under the terms of the agreement, NFC will make or receive
payments based on the difference between the transferred swap notional amount and the outstanding
principal balance of the sold retail receivables. As of October 31, 2000 the difference between the
amortizing swap notional amount and the net outstanding principal balance of the sold retail
receivables was $11 million.

At October 31, 2000, the company held German mark forward contracts with notional amounts of
$35 million and other derivative contracts with notional amounts of $38 million. At October 31,
2000 the unrealized net loss on these contracts was not material.



LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (continued)

At October 31, 2000, the Canadian operating subsidiary was contingently liable for retail customers'
contracts and leases financed by a third party. The Canadian operating subsidiary is subject to
maximum recourse of $312 million on retail contracts and $33 million on retail leases. The Canadian
operating subsidiary, NFC and certain other subsidiaries included in the financial services operations are
parties to agreements that may result in the restriction of amounts which can be distributed to
International in the form of dividends or loans and advances. At October 31, 2000, the maximum
amount of dividends which were available for distribution under the most restrictive covenants was
$248 million.

NFC’s maximum contractual exposure under all receivable sale recourse provisions at October 31,
2000, was $330 million. However, management believes the recorded reserves for losses on sold
receivables are adequate. See Note 5 to the Financial Statements.

The company and International are obligated under certain agreements with public and private
lenders of NFC to maintain the subsidiary's income before interest expense and income taxes at not less
than 125% of its total interest expense. No income maintenance payments were required for the three
years ended October 31, 2000.

In February 2000, Standard and Poor’s raised the company’s and NFC’s senior debt ratings from
BB+ to BBB-, and raised the company’s and NFC’s subordinated debt ratings from BB- to BB+. In
May 1999, Moody’s and Duff and Phelps raised the company’s senior debt ratings from Bal and BB+
to Baa3 and BBB-, respectively, and raised the company’s subordinated debt ratings from Ba3 and
BB- to Ba2 and BB, respectively. NFC’s senior debt ratings increased from Bal and BBB- to Baa3
and BBB, respectively. NFC’s subordinated debt ratings were also raised from Ba3 and BB+ to Ba2
and BBB-, respectively.

It is the opinion of management that, in the absence of significant unanticipated cash demands,
current and forecasted cash flow will provide a basis for financing operating requirements and capital
expenditures. Management also believes that collections on the outstanding receivables portfolios as
well as funds available from various funding sources will permit the financial services operations to
meet the financing requirements of the company’s dealers and customers.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

The company has been named a potentially responsible party (PRP), in conjunction with other
parties, in a number of cases arising under an environmental protection law, the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, popularly known as the Superfund law.
These cases involve sites, which allegedly have received wastes from current or former company
locations. Based on information available to the company, which, in most cases, consists of data
related to quantities and characteristics of material generated at, or shipped to, each site as well as cost
estimates from PRPs and/or federal or state regulatory agencies for the cleanup of these sites, a
reasonable estimate is calculated of the company's share, if any, of the probable costs and is provided
for in the financial statements. These obligations are generally recognized no later than completion of
the remedial feasibility study and are not discounted to their present value. The company reviews its
accruals on a regular basis and believes that, based on these calculations, its share of the potential
additional costs for the cleanup of each site will not have a material effect on the company's financial
results.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
As disclosed in Notes 1 and 11 to the Financial Statements, the company uses derivative financial

instruments to transfer or reduce the risks of foreign exchange and interest rate volatility, and
potentially increase the return on invested funds.



DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The company’s manufacturing operations, as conditions warrant, hedge foreign exchange
exposure on the purchase of parts and materials from foreign countries and its exposure from the sale
of manufactured products in other countries. Contracted purchases of commodities or manufacturing
equipment may also be hedged.

The financial services operations may use forward contracts to hedge interest payments on the
notes and certificates related to an expected sale of receivables. The financial services operations
also use interest rate swaps to reduce exposure to interest rate changes when they sell fixed rate
receivables on a variable rate basis. For the protection of investors in NFC’s securities, NFC may
enter into interest rate caps when fixed rate receivables are sold on a variable rate basis.

YEAR 2000

The company had instituted a corporate-wide Year 2000 readiness project to identify all systems,
which required modification or replacement, and established appropriate remediation and
contingency plans to avoid an impact on the company’s ability to continue to provide its products
and services. Through the date of this report, the company has not experienced any significant Year
2000 problems.

The company’s total cost of the Year 2000 project, which was funded through operating cash
flows, was $31 million including $25 million of expense and $6 million of capital expenditures.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

On November 1, 2000, the company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended. This statement
standardizes the accounting for derivative instruments by requiring that an entity recognize all
derivatives as assets or liabilities in the statement of financial position and measure them at fair
value. When certain criteria are met, it also provides for matching the timing of gain or loss
recognition on the derivative hedging instrument with the recognition of (a) the changes in the fair
value or cash flows of the hedged asset or liability attributable to the hedged risk or (b) the earnings
effect of the hedged forecasted transaction.

In November 2000, Navistar recorded an immaterial cumulative transition adjustment to earnings
primarily related to foreign currency derivatives. Additionally, the company recorded an immaterial
cumulative transition adjustment in other comprehensive income for designated cash flow hedges.

In September 2000, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishments of Liabilities” which the company must adopt for all applicable transactions
occurring after March 31, 2001. The company is currently assessing the impact of this standard on
the company’s results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

INCOME TAXES

The Statement of Financial Condition at October 31, 2000 and 1999 includes a deferred tax asset
of $862 million and $896 million, respectively, net of valuation allowances of $86 million for both
2000 and 1999, related to future tax benefits. The deferred tax asset has been reduced by the
valuation allowance as management believes it is more likely than not that some portion of the
deferred tax asset may not be realized in the future.



INCOME TAXES (continued)

The deferred tax asset includes the tax benefits associated with cumulative tax losses of $950
million and temporary differences, which represent the cumulative expense of $1,318 million
recorded in the Statement of Income that has not been deducted on the company’s tax returns. The
valuation allowance at October 31, 2000, assumes that it is more likely than not that approximately
$226 million of cumulative tax losses will not be realized before their expiration date. Realization of
the net deferred tax asset is dependent on the generation of approximately $2,300 million of future
taxable income. Until the company has utilized its significant net operating loss carryforwards, the
cash payment of U.S. federal income taxes will be minimal. See Note 3 to the Financial Statements.

The company performs extensive analysis to determine the amount of the deferred tax asset.
Such analysis is based on the premise that the company is, and will continue to be, a going concern
and that it is more likely than not that deferred tax benefits will be realized through the generation of
future taxable income. Management reviews all available evidence, both positive and negative, to
assess the long-term earnings potential of the company. The financial results are evaluated using a
number of alternatives in economic cycles at various industry volume conditions. One significant
factor considered is the company’s role as a leading producer of heavy and medium trucks and school
buses and mid-range diesel engines.

The 2000 income tax expense was reduced by $20 million for research and development tax
credits that will be taken against future income tax payments related to research and development
activities that occurred over the last several years. In 1999, as a result of increased industry demand,
the continued successful implementation of the company’s manufacturing strategies, changes in the
company’s operating structure, and other positive operating indicators, management reviewed its
projected future taxable income and evaluated the impact of these changes on its deferred tax asset
valuation allowance. This review was completed during the third quarter of 1999 and resulted in a
reduction to the deferred tax asset valuation allowance of $178 million, which was recorded as a
reduction of income tax expense resulting in an effective tax rate of 8%. In addition, a $45 million
reduction in the allowance was recorded during the fourth quarter of 1998 based on a similar review.
Management believes that, with the combination of available tax planning strategies and the
maintenance of significant market share, earnings are achievable in order to realize the net deferred
tax asset of $862 million.

Reconciliation of the company’s income before income taxes for financial statement purposes to
U.S. taxable income for the years ended October 31 is as follows:

Millions of dollars 2000 1999 1998
Income before iNCOME taXes .........ccevvvveviveeiieeiieeinnn, $ 224 $ 591 $ 410
Exclusion of income of foreign subsidiaries ................. (79) (102) (7)
State INCOME taXes ...cooeveeeeeiiii e, (4) (4) 3)
Temporary differences........cccceeeeeiiiiiiriccccciii e, 64 72 (175)
(O 1 T 2 (7) (26)

Taxable INCOME. ... $ 207 $ 550 $ 199



BUSINESSENVIRONMENT

Sales of Class 5 through 8 trucks have historically been cyclical, with demand affected by such
economic factors as industrial production, construction, demand for consumer durable goods, interest
rates and the earnings and cash flow of dealers and customers. Truck sales in 2000 have been
hindered by a number of factors including higher fuel prices, driver shortages, higher interest rates,
and increased new and used truck inventories. The demand for new trucks reflected these adverse
conditions as the number of new truck orders dropped significantly throughout 2000, reducing the
order backlog. The company’s U.S. and Canadian order backlog at October 31, 2000 was 24,000
units, compared with 57,300 units at October 31, 1999. Historically, retail deliveries have been
impacted by the rate at which new truck orders are received. Therefore, the company continually
evaluates order receipts and backlog throughout the year and will balance production with demand as
appropriate. To control costs and align production schedules with demand, the company reduced its
production schedules during 2000 through shutdown weeks at the Chatham and Springfield Assembly
Plants.

The company currently projects 2001 U.S. and Canadian Class 8 heavy truck demand to be
181,600 units, down 30% from 2000. Class 5, 6, and 7 medium truck demand, excluding school buses
is forecast at 108,000 units, 27% lower than in 2000. Demand for school buses is expected to
decrease 6% in 2001 to 32,000 units. At these demand levels, the entire truck industry will be
operating below capacity. Mid-range diesel engine shipments by the company to OEMs in 2001 are
expected to be 295,700 units, 3% below 2000, reflecting an anticipated softening in passenger car
demand.

The company announced in May of 2000 that its Green Diesel Technology™ will be available in
the summer of 2001 on the International® rear engine school bus with an International® 530E
engine. The technology will surpass emissions standards while maintaining an engine with diesel’s
power.

In fiscal 2000, the company finalized an agreement with Ford to supply diesel engines for certain
under 8,500 Ibs. GVW light duty trucks and sport utility vehicles. To support this program, the
company is constructing an engine assembly operation in Huntsville, Alabama.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The company’s primary market risks include fluctuations in interest rates and currency exchange
rates. The company is also exposed to changes in the prices of commodities used in its manufacturing
operations and to changes in the prices of equity instruments owned by the company. Commodity
price risk related to the company’s current commodity financial instruments and equity price risk
related to the company’s current investments in equity instruments are not material. The company
does not hold any material market risk sensitive instruments for trading purposes.

The company has established policies and procedures to manage sensitivity to interest rate and
foreign currency exchange rate market risk. These procedures include the monitoring of the
company’s level of exposure to each market risk, the funding of variable rate receivables with
variable rate debt, and limiting the amount of fixed rate receivables, which may be funded with
floating rate debt. These procedures also include the use of derivative financial instruments to
mitigate the effects of interest rate fluctuations and to reduce the exposure to exchange rate risk.



ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
(continued)

Interest rate risk is the risk that the company will incur economic losses due to adverse changes
in interest rates. The company measures its interest rate risk by estimating the net amount by which
the fair value of all of its interest rate sensitive assets and liabilities would be impacted by selected
hypothetical changes in market interest rates. Fair value is estimated using a discounted cash flow
analysis. Assuming a hypothetical instantaneous 10% adverse change in interest rates as of October
31, 2000 and 1999, the net fair value of these instruments would decrease by approximately $5
million in each year. The company’s interest rate sensitivity analysis assumes a parallel shift in
interest rate yield curves. The model, therefore, does not reflect the potential impact of changes in
the relationship between short-term and long-term interest rates.

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the company will incur economic losses due to adverse
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The company’s primary exposures to foreign currency
exchange fluctuations are the Canadian dollar/U.S. dollar, Mexican peso/U.S. dollar and Brazilian
real/U.S. dollar. At October 31, 2000 and 1999, the potential reduction in future earnings from a
hypothetical instantaneous 10% adverse change in quoted foreign currency spot rates applied to
foreign currency sensitive instruments would be approximately $10 million in each year. The
foreign currency sensitivity model is limited by the assumption that all of the foreign currencies to
which the company is exposed would simultaneously decrease by 10%, because such synchronized
changes are unlikely to occur. The effects of foreign currency forward contracts have been included
in the above analysis; however, the sensitivity model does not include the inherent risks associated
with the anticipated future transactions denominated in foreign currency for which these forward
contracts have been entered into for hedging purposes.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL REPORTING RESPONSIBILITY

Management of Navistar International Corporation and its subsidiaries is responsible for the
preparation and for the integrity and objectivity of the accompanying financial statements and other
financial information in this report. The financia statements have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and include amounts that are
based on management's estimates and judgments.

The accompanying financial statements have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent
auditors. Management has made available to Deloitte & ToucheLLp all the company's financial records
and related data, aswell as the minutes of the board of directors meetings. Management believes that
all representations made to Deloitte & ToucheLLp during its audit were valid and appropriate.

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining a system of interna controls
throughout its operations that provides reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the
financial statements, the protection of assets from unauthorized use and the execution and recording of
transactions in accordance with management's authorization. Management believes that the company’s
system of internal controlsis adequate to accomplish these abjectives. The system of internal controls,
which provides for appropriate divison of responsibility, is supported by written policies and
procedures that are updated by management, as necessary. The system is tested and evaluated regularly
by the company's internal auditors as well as by the independent auditors in connection with their
annual audit of the financial statements. The independent auditors conduct their audit in accordance

with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and perform such tests of
transactions and balances as they deem necessary. Management considers the recommendations of its
internal auditors and independent auditors concerning the company's system of internal controls and
takes the necessary actions that are cost-effectivein the circumstances to respond appropriately to the
recommendations presented.

The Audit Committee of the board of directors, composed of six non-employee directors, meets
periodically with the independent auditors, management, general counsel and internal auditors to satisfy
itself that such persons are properly discharging their responsibilities regarding financia reporting and
auditing. In carrying out these responsibilities, the Committee has full access to the independent
auditors, internal auditors, general counsel and financial management in scheduled joint sessions or
private meetings as in the Committee's judgment seems appropriate. Similarly, the company's
independent auditors, internal auditors, general counsel and financial management have full access to
the Committee and to the board of directors and each is responsible for bringing before the Committee
or its Chair, in a timely manner, any matter deemed appropriate to the discharge of the Committee's
responsibility.
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._JohnR. Horne
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and Chief Financial Officer



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT

Navistar International Corporation,
Its Directors and Shareowners;

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Navistar International Corporation and
Consolidated Subsidiaries as of October 31, 2000 and 1999 and for each of the three years in the
period ended October 31, 2000 as listed in Item 8 and the financial statement schedule listed in Item
14. These consolidated financia statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of
the company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test bads, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financia statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Navistar International Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries at
October 31, 2000 and 1999, and the results of their operations and their cash flow for each of the three
years in the period ended October 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting principles generaly
accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in
all material respects the information set forth therein.

p.g I[a."H"., '5 "'f;ugfat &Lf

Deloitte & ToucheLLP
December 11, 2000
Chicago, Illinois



STATEMENT OF INCOME

For the Years Ended October 31

Navistar International Corporation
and Consolidated Subsidiaries

Millions of dollars, except share data 2000 1999 1998
Sales and revenues
Sales of manufactured products...........cccccveeviiieeiiieeciiee, $ 8,119 $ 8,326 $ 7,629
Finance and inSUrance revVeNUE..........ccoevvviviieeeeniiiiiee e 288 256 201
Other INCOME.. ..o 44 60 55
Total sales and reVENUES............cevvvviiiiiiiiiiieiieeeeeeeeeen 8,451 8,642 7,885
Costs and expenses
Cost of products and services sold...........ccccceeeeiiiiiiiiiinnnnn. 6,774 6,862 6,498
Cost of products sold related to restructuring...............cc....... 20 - -
Total cost of products and services sold...............ccccee.e. 6,794 6,862 6,498
Restructuring and loss on anticipated sale of business............. 286 - -
Postretirement benefitS........ccccccoviiiiiii, 146 216 174
Engineering and research eXpense........cccoocveeeviiieeniiinieennnnn, 280 281 192
Sales, general and administrative exXpense..........cccccocveevinneen. 488 486 427
INTEreSt EXPENSE. . ettt 146 135 105
Other EXPENSE....covuii i 87 71 79
Total costs and eXPeNSES........ccoovviiiriiiiiiiiiiii 8,227 8,051 7,475
Income before income taxes.........cccevvvivvieeiiineeennnn, 224 591 410
INCOME taX EXPENSE. . vt e 65 47 111
N L= A oo o 159 544 299
Less dividends on Series G preferred stock..........c.ccceevvinenn. - - 11
Net income applicable to common stocK...........cccccveveinennn, $ 159 $ 544 $ 288
Earnings per share
BaSIC.uiiiiiiiiiiiiii $ 262 $ 834 $ 4.16
DIULEA. .. $ 258 $ 820 $ 411
Average shares outstanding (millions)
BaSIC. . 60.7 65.2 69.1
DIULEA. .t 61.5 66.4 70.0
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Years Ended October 31
Millions of dollars 2000 1999 1998
NEE INCOME...uiiiiiiieee e $ 159 $ 544 $ 299
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Minimum pension liability adjustment,
net of tax of $(1), $(81) and $76 million................... 34 152 (144)
Foreign currency translation adjustments and other............ (14) (18) 5
Other comprehensive income (l0ss), net of taX..........cccceveenee. 20 134 (139)
Comprehensive iNCOME.......uvvieiiiireesiiiie e et e e $ 179 $ 678 $ 160

See Notes to Financial Statements.



STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
Navistar International Corporation
and Consolidated Subsidiaries

As of October 31
Millions of dollars 2000 1999
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents............ccccoeveiiiiieiiee e, $ 297 $ 243
Marketable SECUTITIES........ovivvveiiiiieeec e, 167 138
Receivables, Net.....coocviiiiiii 1,075 1,550
TNV 2] 0] o =TT 648 625
Deferred tax asset, Net.......cccoveiviiiiiiiii e, 198 229
(O] 1 (=Y = T £ T 82 57
Total CUMTENT @SSELS.....iiveiiiiieeie e e 2,467 2,842
Marketable SECUTITIES. .....uiieiii e 37 195
Finance and other receivables, Net............ccocveviiiiiiiiiiiiinnens 1,467 1,268
Property and equipment, Net.......coveeviieiiiiiiieiieee e e e e 1,779 1,475
Investments and Other aSSetsS.......coovvvvviviiiiiiiieiiiiee e 234 207
Prepaid and intangible pension assets..........cccccvvvveeiniiiceennnn, 297 274
Deferred tax asset, Net.......cooevvveiiiiiieiieee e, 664 667
TOtAl ASSBES .. vttt $ 6,945 $ 6,928

LIABILITIES AND SHAREOWNERS' EQUITY

Liabilities

Current liabilities
Notes payable and current maturities of long-term debt...... $ 482 $ 192
Accounts payable, principally trade................cccovveeenne, 1,096 1,399
Other 1iabilities. . ... 831 911
Total current liabilities........cc.ooooiiiii 2,409 2,502
Debt: Manufacturing operations..........cccocvvveeiiiniiiieennninnnn, 437 445
Financial services operations............cccccvvvvvieeennnnnnn, 1,711 1,630
Postretirement benefits liability........................, 660 634
Other liabilities........ooovvviiiiiii 414 426
Total liabilities..........ccciiii 5,631 5,637

Commitments and contingencies

Shareowners' equity

Series D convertible junior preference stock.............cccceeueeene. 4 4
Common stock
(75.3 million shares issued)...........ccceevvvvvviiivviiiiiininnnn, 2,139 2,139
Retained earnings (defiCit).........cccccvvvvririiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeee, (143) (297)
Accumulated other comprehensive 10SS.........ccccccevieeiiineenne. 77 (197)
Common stock held in treasury, at cost
(15.9 million and 12.1 million shares held).................... 509 (358)
Total shareowners' eqUItY.......cccceeeeeeveiiieiiiininnnnn, 1,314 1,291
Total liabilities and shareowners' equity ......................... $ 6,945 $ 6,928

See Notes to Financial Statements.



STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

Navistar International Corporation
and Consolidated Subsidiaries

For the Years Ended October 31

Millions of dollars 2000 1999 1998
Cash flow from operations
NEE INCOME. ..t $ 159 $ 544 $ 299
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash
provided by operations:
Depreciation and amortization.............cccccovevveeeeenns 199 174 159
Deferred iNCOME taxes........ccvvvveeiieeeeiiiiiiiiiiieeeeenn, 56 185 149
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance
and other tax adjustments............cccvveeeeeennnnnns (20) (178) (45)
Postretirement benefits funding (in excess of)
less than eXpense........oovvvuiueiiiiniineee e ?3) 47 (373)
Non-cash restructuring charge..........cccccovviviiieeennnns 124 - -
Other, Net. .. o (10) (31) (16)
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Receivables. ... 591 (445) (192)
INVENTOTTES. ..o (34 (129) (13)
Prepaid and other current assets..........covveerviiieneennns 1 (24) (€D)]
Accounts payable............iii (288) 139 192
Other liabilities..........ccoovviiiiiii e, (89) 20 202
Cash provided by operations............cccooeeveeeieeeeeenneenn, 686 302 361
Cash flow from investment programs
Purchases of retail notes and lease receivables........................ (1,450) (1,442) (1,263)
Collections/sales of retail notes and lease receivables.............. 1,089 1,282 1,071
Purchases of marketable securities..........ccccccveeeiiiiiiiininnnnn. (192) (396) (837)
Sales or maturities of marketable securities.............c.ccceevveee. 328 726 521
Capital exXpenditures.........ccoeeviiiiiiiiie (553) (427) (302)
Proceeds from sale-leasebacks.............cooeviiiiiiiiiiiiiicnnnnn, 90 - -
Property and equipment leased to others..........cccccceeiiinnnen. (90) (108) (125)
Investment in affiliates...........oooeiiiiiii (€D)] (71) @)
Capitalized interest and other.............ccccccooiiiiiiiiiviien, (28) (15) (6)
Cash used in investment programs...........cccccvvvvvvvvennnn. (807) (451) (948)
Cash flow from financing activities
Issuance of debt........ccoouiiiiiiiiii 241 196 577
Principal payments on debt........cccooooviiiiiiiiiin, (90) (135) (119)
Net increase in notes and debt outstanding
under bank revolving credit facility and
commercial paper Programs.........cccveeeeeivnivreeeeennnineeeens 175 88 348
Purchases of common StOCK............cooeveviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii, (151) (144) (189)
Redemption of Series G preferred stock............occvvieeiinnnn. - - (240)
Dividends paid and other.............cuviiiiiiiiiiiin - (3) (9)
Cash provided by financing activities..............ccccceernnne 175 2 368
Cash and cash equivalents
Increase (decrease) during the year..........ccoccceviviiinneene, 54 (147) (219)
At beginning of the year.........ccccooeeiis 243 390 609
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year.................... $ 297 $ 243 $ 390

See Notes to Financial Statements.



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2000

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Consolidation

Navistar International Corporation is a holding company, whose principal operating subsidiary is
International Truck and Engine Corporation (International), formerly Navistar International
Transportation Corp. As used hereafter, “company” or “Navistar” refers to Navistar International
Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries. Navistar operates in three principal industry segments:
truck, engine (collectively called “manufacturing operations”) and financial services.

The company’s truck segment is engaged in the manufacture and marketing of Class 5 through 8
trucks, including school buses, and operates primarily in the United States (U.S.) and Canada as well as
in Mexico, Brazil and other selected export markets. The company’s engine segment is engaged in
the design and manufacture of mid-range diesel engines and operates primarily in the U.S. and Brazil.
The financial services operations of the company provide wholesale, retail and lease financing, and
domestic commercial physical damage and liability insurance coverage to the company’s dealers and
retail customers and to the general public through an independent insurance agency system.

The consolidated financial statements include the results of the company’s manufacturing
operations and its wholly owned financial services subsidiaries. The effects of transactions between the
manufacturing and financial services operations have been eliminated to arrive at the consolidated
totals. Certain 1999 and 1998 amounts have been reclassified to conform with the presentation used in
the 2000 financial statements.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the U.S. requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Revenue Recognition

Truck operations recognize shipments of new trucks and service parts to dealers and retail
customers as sales. Price allowances, expected in the normal course of business, and the cost of special
incentive programs are recorded at the time of sale. Engine sales are recognized at the time of
shipment to original equipment manufacturers (OEMs). An allowance for losses on receivables is
maintained at an amount that management considers appropriate in relation to the outstanding
receivables portfolio, and it is charged when receivables are determined to be uncollectible.

Financial services operations recognize finance charges on finance receivables as income over the
term of the receivables utilizing the interest method. Operating lease revenues are recognized on a
straight-line basis over the life of the lease. Selected receivables are securitized and sold to public and
private investors with limited recourse. Gains or losses on sales of receivables are credited or charged to
revenue in the period in which the sale occurs. Financial services operations continue to service the
sold receivables and receive a fee for such services. An allowance for losses is maintained at a level
deemed appropriate based on such factors as overall portfolio quality, historical loss experience and
current economic conditions.



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2000

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue Recognition (continued)

Insurance premiums are earned on a prorata basis over the terms of the policies. The liability for
unpaid insurance claims includes provisions for reported claims and an estimate of unreported claims
based on past experience.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

All highly liquid financial instruments with maturities of three months or less from date of
purchase, consisting primarily of bankers' acceptances, commercial paper, U.S. government securities
and floating rate notes, are classified as cash equivalents in the Statements of Financial Condition and
Cash Flow.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale securities and are reported at fair value. The
difference between amortized cost and fair value is recorded as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive loss in shareowners’ equity, net of applicable deferred taxes. Securities with remaining
maturities of less than twelve months and other investments needed for current cash requirements are
classified as current within the Statement of Financial Condition. All equity securities are classified as
current because they are highly liquid financial instruments, which can be readily converted to cash. All
other securities are classified as non-current. Due to the anticipated sale of Harco National Insurance
Company (Harco) within the next fiscal year, as further described in Note 10, all of Harco’s marketable
securities as of October 31, 2000 have been classified as current within the Statement of Financial
Position.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of average cost or market.
Property and Other Long-Lived Assets

Significant expenditures for replacement of equipment, tooling and pattern equipment, and major
rebuilding of machine tools are capitalized. Depreciation and amortization are generally provided on
the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which average 35 years for buildings
and improvements and 12 years for machinery and equipment. Gains and losses on property disposals
are included in other income and expense. The carrying amount of all long-lived assets is evaluated
periodically to determine if adjustment to the depreciation and amortization period or to the
unamortized balance is warranted. Such evaluation is based principally on the expected utilization of
the long-lived assets and the projected, undiscounted cash flows of the operations in which the long-
lived assets are deployed.

Engineering and Research Expense

Engineering and research expense includes research and development expenses and routine ongoing
costs associated with improving existing products and manufacturing processes.  Research and
development expenses, which include activities for the introduction of new truck and engine products
and major improvements to existing products and processes, totaled $226 million, $207 million and
$138 million in 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2000

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Product Related Costs

The company accrues warranty expense at the time of end product sale. Product liability expense
is accrued based on the estimate of total future payments to settle product liability claims.

Foreign Currency

The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated to U.S. dollars using the period-end
exchange rate for assets and liabilities and a weighted-average exchange rate for each period for
revenues and expenses. The local currency is the functional currency for the company’s foreign
subsidiaries and translation adjustments for these subsidiaries are recorded as a component of
accumulated other comprehensive loss in shareowners’ equity. Effective February 1, 1999, the
functional currency of the company’s Mexican subsidiaries changed from the U.S. dollar to the
Mexican peso because Mexico’s economy is no longer considered highly inflationary. The effect of
this change was not material. Translation gains and losses arising from fluctuations in currency
exchange rates on transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency are
recognized in earnings as incurred, except for those transactions which hedge purchase commitments
and for those intercompany balances which are designated as long-term investments. Net income
included foreign currency transaction losses of $4 million in 2000 and $10 million in 1999 and a
foreign currency transaction gain of $4 million in 1998.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The company uses derivatives to transfer or reduce risks of foreign exchange and interest rate
volatility and to potentially increase the return on invested funds. Financial services operations
may use forward contracts to hedge future interest payments on the notes and certificates related to an
expected sale of receivables. Financial services operations also use interest rate swaps to reduce
exposure to interest rate changes when they sell fixed rate receivables on a variable rate basis. For the
protection of investors in Navistar Financial Corporation’s (NFC) debt securities, NFC may enter into
interest rate caps when fixed rate receivables are sold on a variable rate basis. The company also uses
derivatives such as forward contracts to reduce its exposure to foreign exchange volatility.

Derivative financial instruments are generally held for purposes other than trading. Gains or losses
related to hedges of anticipated transactions are deferred until they are recognized in income when the
effects of the anticipated transactions are recognized in earnings. The principal balance of receivables
expected to be sold by NFC equals or exceeds the notional amount of open forward contracts.
Additionally, the value of committed purchases denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency generally exceeds the notional amount of related open derivative contracts.

New Accounting Pronouncements

On November 1, 2000, the company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended (SFAS 133). This
statement standardizes the accounting for derivative instruments by requiring that an entity
recognize all derivatives as assets or liabilities in the statement of financial position and measure
them at fair value. When certain criteria are met, it also provides for matching the timing of gain or
loss recognition on the derivative hedging instrument with the recognition of (a) the changes in the
fair value or cash flows of the hedged asset or liability attributable to the hedged risk or (b) the
earnings effect of the hedged forecasted transaction.



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2000

1. SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

New Accounting Pronouncements (continued)

In November 2000, Navistar recorded an immaterial cumulative transition adjustment to earnings
primarily related to foreign currency derivatives. Additionally, the company recorded an immaterial
cumulative transition adjustment in other comprehensive income for designated cash flow hedges.

In September 2000, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishments of Liabilities,” which the company must adopt for all applicable transactions
occurring after March 31, 2001. The company is currently assessing the impact of this standard on
the company’s results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

2. POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

The company provides postretirement benefits to a substantial portion of its employees. Costs
associated with postretirement benefits include pension and postretirement health care expenses for
employees, retirees and surviving spouses and dependents. In addition, as part of the 1993 restructured
health care and life insurance plans, profit sharing payments to the Retiree Supplemental Benefit Trust
(Trust) are required.

The cost of postretirement benefits is segregated as a separate component in the Statement of
Income and is as follows:

Millions of dollars 2000 1999 1998
PENSION EXPENSE. ..ovvrrreeeessseeeesesseneessssssssssessssssessssssssssssssssssesssssssssssessess $ 49 $ 77 $ 74
HEAII/IIE INSUFANCE........oeveveeertene st sssesssesessssssssesssesnns 73 65 42
Profit sharing provision 10 TIUSE..........c.ccerrerrereererrereeeee e 24 74 58
Total postretirement benefits EXPENnSe.........covcvereeeveevienieens $ 146 $ 216 $ 174

Generally, the pension plans are non-contributory. The company’s policy is to fund its pension
plans in accordance with applicable U.S. and Canadian government regulations and to make additional
payments as funds are available to achieve full funding of the accumulated benefit obligation. At
October 31, 2000, all legal funding requirements had been met. In 2001, the company expects to
contribute approximately $33 million to its pension plans to meet legal requirements.

In 1993, the Retiree Health Benefit Trust was established to provide a vehicle for funding the
health care liability through company contributions and retiree premiums. The company made a
required prefunding contribution of $200 million to this trust during 1998.



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2000
2. POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)
Postretirement Benefits Expense

Net periodic benefits expense included in the Statement of Income is composed of the following:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

Millions of dollars 2000 1999 1998 2000 1999 1998
Service cost for benefits

earned during the period..............coe.... $ 29 $ 34 $ 37 $ 15 $ 16 $ 14
Interest on obligation.............ceveereeeeeneeennn. 245 229 231 126 107 98
Amortization costs and other.................. 76 99 88 13 15 2
Less expected return on assets.................. (301) (285) (282) (81) (73) (72)
Net postretirement benefits expense... $ 49 ¢$ w7 $ 74 $ 713 $ 65 $ 42

“Amortization costs and other” include amortization of cumulative gains and losses over the
expected remaining service life of employees and amortization of the initial transition liability over 15
years. Also included is the expense related to yearly lump-sum payments to retirees required by
negotiated labor contracts, expense related to defined contribution plans and amortization of plan
amendments. Plan amendments are recognized over the remaining service life of employees, except
for those plan amendments arising from negotiated labor contracts, which are amortized over the
length of the contract.



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2000

2. POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)
Postretirement Benefits Expense (continued)

The funded status of the company's plans as of October 31, 2000 and 1999 and reconciliation with
amounts recognized in the Statement of Financial Condition are provided below.

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

Millions of dollars 2000 1999 2000 1999
Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year........... $3245 $3481 $1636 $ 1,560
SEIVICE COSL.vvvverrrerreeessssnsesssssmssssssssssessssssssssssssssssnnns 29 34 15 16
Interest on ODIHGALION..............eveeeeeerereerireresreeieeenaes 245 229 126 107
Amendments and Other...........cocovverrenrenrenreenreenneens - 8 - 4
Actuarial net (ain) l0SS..........ccrereermermneesrnerereeennes 47 (220) 358 52
[STETTS 1157 07 o O (296) (287) (120) (103)
Benefit obligation at end of year..........c..cccceuenee $ 3270 $ 3245 _$2015 _$ 1,636
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $3,113 $3,032 $ 764 $ 693
Actual return on plan assets.........ccocveerererreereens 299 348 63 118
Employer contributions............c.veeeeeeineeenevisssenone, 39 12 9 10
S TS0 {115 07 1o (286) (279) (67) (57)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year............ $ 3165 $3113 $ 769 _$ 764
FUNDEA SEALUS.....cvvvvvrssssrreesrseeesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnssnns $ (105) $ (132) $(1,246) $ (872)
Unrecognized actuarial net 10ss...........c.ccccuveneee. 316 279 695 331
Unrecognized transition amount..............c.cc....... 59 100 - -
Unrecognized prior Service COSt..........ocoeerereerenn. 36 56 - -
Net amount reCOgNIZEA............cccvveemeeereveererressennnnns $ 306 $ 303 _$ (551) $ (541)
Amounts recognized in the Statement of
Financial Condition consist of:
Prepaid DENefit COSL........mrvvvvemererssseeseressssssssnnensens $ 232 $ 148 $ - $ -
Accrued benefit liability- current.............cccoeenee. (46) (95) (76) (58)

- noncurrent.........co..... (185) (151) (475) (483)
INGANQIDIE ASSEL.......rvveeeerereerer e sssessssensens 65 126 - -
Accumulated other comprehensive loss.......... 240 275

Net amount reCOgNIZEd............cv.verrvvreereeesssssannees $ 306 $ 303 _$ (551) _$ (541)




NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2000

2. POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS (continued)
Postretirement Benefits Expense (continued)

The accumulated other comprehensive loss included in shareowners’ equity is recorded in the
Statement of Financial Condition net of deferred income taxes of $90 million and $91 million at
October 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

The restructuring, as described in Note 10, will result in curtailment losses of approximately $10
million related to the company’s pension plans and $2 million related to the company’s
postretirement health care plans. These expenses are recorded as part of “Restructuring and loss on
anticipated sale of business” in the Statement of Income.

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets for the
pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets were $1,901 million, $1,900
million and $1,673 million, respectively, as of October 31, 2000, and $2,057 million, $2,056 million
and $1,814 million, respectively, as of October 31, 1999.

During 1998, the pension plans purchased 3 million shares of the company’s common stock. At
October 31, 1998, these shares accounted for approximately 2% of the plans’ assets. During 1999, the
pension plans sold all of their shares of the company’s common stock.

The weighted average rate assumptions used in determining expenses and benefit obligations were:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits

Millions of dollars 2000 1999 1998 2000 1999 1998
Discount rate used to determine

present value of benefit

obligation at end of year.................... 8.0% 7.9% 6.8% 8.2% 8.0% 7.1%
Expected long-term rate of return

on plan assets for the year................ 9.9% 9.7% 9.7% 11.0% 10.8% 10.8%
Expected rate of increase in future

compensation levels.............ccuneniens 3.5% 3.5% 3.5% N/A N/A N/A

For 2001, the weighted average rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care
benefits is projected to be 10.3%. The rate is projected to decrease to 5.0% by the year 2006 and
remain at that level each year thereafter. The effect of changing the health care cost trend rate by
one-percentage point for each future year is as follows:

One-Percentage One-Percentage
Point Increase Point Decrease

Effect on total of service

and interest cost components.......... $ 24 $ (21)
Effect on postretirement

benefit obligation..........c..ccecvervncvcneis 247 (211)



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2000

3. INCOME TAXES

The domestic and foreign components of income before income taxes consist of the following:

Millions of dollars 2000 1999 1998
DIOMESHC.....orsvvvverssesseeessesssssssssssssssssssessssssssesssssssessssssessssssssessssssessssssoe $ 145 $ 489 $ 403
FFOTBION. .veeveveeeeererssssssmsssssssssssssssssssssssssssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssessssssssssssssssssssssssees 79 102 7
Total income before INCOME taXES..........cverveeerverereernneeneseeeeseesenns $ 224 $ 591 $ 410
The components of income tax expense consist of the following:

Millions of dollars 2000 1999 1998
Current:

FEOBIAL.......voveveveeeeemesmsmssmsssssssssssssss s sssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss $ 4 $ 11 $ 4

StAtE ANA IOCAL........vveerevee s ss s sseesssressssens 4 4 3

FOTBION. .cvvvvvrersssseersesesssssssesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnnns 21 25 -
TOtal CUITENE EXPENSE.....ovvvverreesseeessseesssssssssssssssssssssssssesssssssssssanns 29 40 7
Deferred:

FEOBIAL.......voveveveeeeemesmsmssmsssssssssssssss s sssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss 38 154 127

StAtE ANA IOCAL........vvererere et sss s sseessssessssens 7 23 19

FOTBION. .cvvvvvrersssseersesesssssssesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnnns 11 8 3
Total deferred EXPENSE.......ovcvveerrerersressisesssiess s sssssss s sssssssasssssens 56 185 149
Less research and development credit.........c.ooeveverernreresnnenns (20) - -
Less valuation allowance adjustment...........cc.oreerrereereenceneereennens - (178) (45)
Total INCOME taX EXPENSE. .....vvurerrererreersresseesseseesssssssssssssssssssssssneens $ 65 $ 47 $ 111




NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2000

3. INCOME TAXES (continued)

The deferred tax expense does not represent cash payment of income taxes and was primarily
generated by the utilization of net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards and the increase of temporary
differences, and will not require future cash payments. Consolidated tax payments made during 2000,
1999 and 1998 were $29 million, $40 million and $7 million, respectively.

The relationship of the tax expense to income before taxes for 2000, 1999 and 1998 differs from
the U.S. statutory rate (35%) because of state income taxes and the benefit of NOL carryforwards in
foreign countries. The 2000 effective tax rate reflects a $20 million research and development tax
credit. Also, the 1999 and 1998 effective tax rates reflect a $178 million and $45 million reduction in
the deferred tax asset valuation allowance, respectively. A valuation allowance has been provided for
those NOL carryforwards and temporary differences, which are estimated to expire before they are
utilized. The effective tax rates for 2000, 1999 and 1998 were 29.0%, 8.0% and 27.0%, respectively.

In the third quarter of 2000, the company completed a study of research and development
activities that occurred over the last several years and recorded $20 million of research and
development tax credits. These credits will be taken against future income tax payments. During
1999, as a result of continued strong industry demand, the continued successful implementation of the
company’s manufacturing strategies, changes in the company’s operating structure, and other positive
operating indicators, management reviewed its projected future taxable income and evaluated the
impact of these changes on its deferred tax asset valuation allowance. This review resulted in a
reduction to the deferred tax asset valuation allowance of $178 million, which reduced income tax
expense during the third quarter of 1999. In addition, a $45 million reduction in the valuation
allowance was recorded during the fourth quarter of 1998 based on a similar review.

Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries were $171 million and $126 million at October 31,
2000 and 1999, respectively. Taxes have not been provided on these earnings because no withholding
taxes are applicable upon repatriation and any U.S. tax would be substantially offset by the utilization
of NOL carryforwards.



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2000
3. INCOME TAXES (continued)

Taxpaying entities of the company offset all deferred tax assets and liabilities within each tax
jurisdiction. The components of the deferred tax asset (liability) at October 31 are as follows:

Millions of dollars 2000 1999

United States
Deferred tax assets:

Net operating 10SS CarryfOrWAITS..........ccevimeremerneessenssssssssessssssesssssssssssssssans $ 308 $ 397
Alternative minimum tax and research and development credits......... 60 35
POSrEtireMENt DENETILS..........vveereeeeeeceeeeeessereesseresss e sse st sss s sssssssesssssssssssneees 266 266
Product liability and WaITANLY..........c.c.ereemerimeeessmsesesssssssssssssssssesssssssssssssssssssens 104 116
EMPIOyee INCENLIVE PrOgraMIS.........creremeeessssssmssssssssssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnens 25 77

RESITUCIUIING COSES..ourunrreermmnrerssmssssssmesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssessssssesssssssessssssnees 81 -

ONEr HADIITIES........cvveeeeesserreeeeeeesssseeeessssssssessesessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssses 135 129

TOtal JEfErTed taX BSSELS.....rvveureeerereesrereesseneessseeeesseseesssesessssssssssssssssssessssssessssssesessens 979 1,020

Deferred tax liabilities:

Prepait PENSION @SSELS..........uuuumuerresssesssseesesssssssssessssssssssssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssses (92) (102)

DIEIDIECIALION. .vvvvvvvvvssessssseeeeeeee s sssssss s (16) (22)

Total deferred tax lADIHES. ............wrverrererrierseess s ssssesssssnes (108) (124)

Total deferred TAX ASSELS.........cuurreerrrersssesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssass 871 896

LesS ValURLioN AlIOWANCE..........ccvvveerevesssessisssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnes (65) (65)

Net deferred U.S. taX @SSELS........ccummmmmmmmrmrrrssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssses $ 806 $ 831

Foreign

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating 10SS CArMYTONWAITS...........cc.creerreeeeereeesreeesseeesseesseessssesseesssesessesssesesnas $ 33 $ 34

Other aCCrUEH NHADIITIES.........vvveerrreeerrerreeeereees e eessseseesesssssessssssssssssssssessssssssssssssenesses 44 52

Total deferred taX BSSELS......vvueurreerereeerereessesesssseesssssssssssssssssssssssssesssssssssssssessssssssssens 77 86

Less valuation AlIOWANCE............cweeereemreeessssessesssssssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssses (21) (21)

Net deferred fOreign taX @SSELS.........wwwmrrrrerrmersseessseesssessssessssesssssssssssssssseees $ 56 $ 65

Total NEt AEfEITE tAX ASSELS...... . uurrreeesesssreresessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssseees $ 862 $ 896

Deferred foreign tax liabilities:

PrEPAIC PENSION GSSELS....vvvvueueuuuummmsieeeeeessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnnns $ (36) $ (45)

DEPIECIAION. ...vvvveecerrsvveessssesesssssssss s ssssssssssssssssssssss s ssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssess (26) (30)

ONEE s RRRRR RS esE SRR S s (27) (12)

Total deferred foreign taxX HabIlILIES...........cc.vvreeerererrerneernereer e snenes $ (89 $ (87)

Amounts recognized in the Statement of Financial Condition:

DETEITEA TAX BSSELS...vvvvrruerrrsssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnees $ 862 $ 896
LLESS CUITENE POITION....vvvverrvveesssseerssessssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssees (198) (229)
Long-term deferred taX SSEL...........uvwrrriimrsimsssinesssesssssssssssssssssssssssesssness $ 664 $ 667

Other 10NG-ErM [ADIIItIES. ..........ucerererrveesvsssssssseseeeessssssssssssssssssssssessssssssssssssssssss $ (89 $ (87)




NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2000

3. INCOME TAXES (continued)

At October 31, 2000, the company had $863 million of domestic and $87 million of foreign NOL
carryforwards available to offset future taxable income. Such carryforwards reflect income tax losses
incurred which will expire as follows, in millions of dollars:

2008......cooevvvvsessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssseees $ 710
2000......0000vvvvvessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss s sssssssaeees 20
20LL..oooovevvevvessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssneees 179
INGEFINITE. ..o bbb 41
TOMLee s sssssss s ssssees $ 950

Additionally, the reversal of net temporary differences of $1,318 million as of October 31, 2000
will create net tax deductions, which, if not utilized previously, will expire subsequent to 2011.

4. MARKETABLE SECURITIES

The fair value of marketable securities is estimated based on quoted market prices, when available.

If a quoted price is not available, fair value is estimated using quoted market prices for similar financial
instruments.

Information related to the company's marketable securities at October 31 is as follows:

2000 1999
Amortized Fair Amortized Fair

Millions of dollars Cost Value Cost Value
CONPOIALE SECUNLIES.....vvvvvveusseeeeesssssssssssssssesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnssees $ 101 $ 97 % 172 $170
U.S. QOVEIMMENE SECUNLIES. ......cvvrrrerrerrersseesssessssessssssssesssssssssssssens 30 30 82 82
Mortgage and asset-backed SECUIIES...........vererererrerererseserersesenens 46 46 55 54
Foreign governmMeNt SECUNLIES. ........cuurrrrreserersrerssessssessessessassenes 6 6 5 5

Total deDt SECUMLIES.........ureeerreeeeeesesssesssseessssssesssssssssssssseeees 183 179 314 311
EQUILY SECUNEIES......vvvvversserressssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssess 24 25 22 22
Total marketable SECUNLIES..........urvrvvvrrrrressisesssssssssssesssssssssssssseens $ 207 $ 204 $ 336 333

Contractual maturities of marketable debt securities at October 31 are as follows:

2000 1999
Amortized Fair Amortized Fair
Millions of dollars Cost Value Cost Value
DUE IN 0N YEAN OF |ESS......ooorveerrreeseerssseesssssssssssssssssessssssssssssesess $ 72 $ 69 $ 116 $ 116
Due after one year through fiVe YEars ...........cccvreeeereeeeneeenns 45 44 126 124
Due after five years through 10 YEars ............cocvverrreererneeneeneens 13 13 10 10

DUE aftEr 1O YEAIS ...oovvvervvsrsseeersssssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss 7 7 7

137 133 259
Mortgage and asset-backed SECUIIES..........cvvrrrerererrererersererereseenns 46 46 55

N

257

54

TOtAl AEDE SECUITHIES .......veveeee et seesee s see e seesee s ses s sessesseesssssssenas $ 183 $ 179 $ 314 $311
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4. MARKETABLE SECURITIES (continued)

Gross gains and losses realized on sales or maturities of marketable securities were not material for
each of the two years. At October 31, 2000 and 1999, a domestic insurance subsidiary had $11 million
of marketable securities, which were on deposit with various state departments of insurance or
otherwise not available. These securities are included in total marketable securities balances at October
31, 2000 and 1999.

The total marketable securities balance at October 31, 2000 and 1999 includes $110 million and
$102 million of Harco’s marketable securities. The unrealized gain on these securities at October 31,
2000 was included in the net estimated loss on the planned sale of Harco as further described in Note
10.

5. RECEIVABLES

Receivables at October 31 are summarized by major classification as follows:

Millions of dollars 2000 1999
ACCOUNES TECEIVADIE ...t ess s sesessssesssssssss s s s sessssessessssesess s $ 691 $ 814
S Fo | 0] (YN 1,110 878
LLEASE TINANCING.ovvvvrrvrvevresssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssess s sssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss s 291 210
VVNOIESAIE NOLES........cverrecresstses st ss bbb bbb s s s b b 146 567
Amounts due from sales Of rECEIVADIES..........ocveerrierse e 317 244
INOLES FECRIVADIE......ooervereteret sttt b bbb sess bbb b s sassssssesss st - 117
(107 (ST 26 24
ALIOWANCE TOF IOSSES.......ccvvvvveveessmsesrseessesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnnas (39) (36)
TOtal FECEIVADIES, NEL......oeceeectee et esb s bbb sssb st sssaans 2,542 2,818
LESS CUITENE POMTION.....vverereeesererssnssssesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssessssnnes (1,075) (1,550)
Finance and other reCeIVADIES, NEL..........cocverereeee et eeses e sesse s $ 1467 $1,268

The financial services segment purchases the majority of the wholesale notes receivable and some
retail notes and accounts receivable arising from the company’s operations.

The current portion of finance and other receivables is computed based on contractual maturities.
The actual cash collections may vary from the contractual cash flows because of sales, prepayments,
extensions and renewals. The contractual maturities, therefore, should not be regarded as a forecast of
future collections. Contractual maturities of accounts receivable, retail notes and lease financing and
wholesale notes, including unearned finance income, at October 31, 2000 were: 2001 - $1,036 million,
2002 - $447 million, 2003 - $391 million, 2004 - $344 million, 2005 - $182 million and thereafter -
$44 million. Unearned finance income totaled $206 million at October 31, 2000.

A portion of NFC's funding for retail and wholesale notes comes from sales of receivables by NFC
to third parties with limited recourse. NFC’s maximum contractual exposure under all receivable sale
recourse provisions at October 31, 2000 was $330 million; however, management believes that the
allowance for credit losses on sold receivables is adequate. Proceeds from sales of retail notes
receivable, net of underwriting costs, were $958 million in 2000, $1,192 million in 1999 and $953
million in 1998. Uncollected sold retail and wholesale receivable balances totaled $2,693 million and
$2,296 million as of October 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
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5. RECEIVABLES (continued)

In November 2000, NFC sold $765 million of retail notes, net of unearned finance income,
through Navistar Financial Retail Receivables Corporation (NFRRC) to an owner trust which, in turn,
issued securities which were sold to investors. A $5 million gain was recognized on this sale.

During 2000, NFC established Truck Engine Receivables Finance Corporation, a special purpose
wholly owned subsidiary of NFC, for the purpose of securitizing engine accounts receivable. In
November 2000, NFC securitized all of its unsecured trade receivables generated by the sale of diesel
engines and engine service parts from Navistar to Ford Motor Company (Ford). The transaction
provides for funding of $100 million and expires in 2006.

6. INVENTORIES

Inventories at October 31 are as follows:

Millions of dollars 2000 1999
FINISNE PIOTUCES...cooecee e ssmmsssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssees $ 394 $ 285
VVOTK N PIOCESS....vvvvuumrrresssesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssessssssssessssssssnns 42 95
Raw materials and SUPPIIES........creeureermrsesmsssessssmsssssssssssssssssssssssesssssssssssssssssessssanes 212 245
TOtAl INVENTOMIES...vvvvvvvvveeeseeeeeeeesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss s sssssss s sssnns $ 648 $ 625

7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
At October 31, property and equipment includes the following:

Millions of dollars 2000 1999

PIANES......eeeeveeeeessesssssssessssessssssssesssssssssssss s 1,559 1,627
DISHADULION. ..c.ceveeveeeesssesseeecesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssses 101 102
CONSEIUCLION IN PIOGIESS....vouureessersssrsssrsssesssmsssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssses 578 313
Net investment in Operating IBaSES........cccwermrrrermrnssnsesseessssssesssssssesssssssenes 311 283
ONEY eeeeerveeeeeeesssssssssssss s sssssss s 186 253
TOMA PIOPEITY..ereeeerrreeeeesseeeeesssseseesssssssssesssssessesssssssssssssssesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssses 2,752 2,598
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization...............eeveeveerncenennns (973) (1,123)
Total property and eqUIPMENT, NEL..........cvvreeniererneerereeeeeseeeeeseseseeees $1.779 $1,475
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7. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Total property includes property under capitalized lease obligations of $21 million and $24 million
at October 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Future minimum rentals on net investments in operating
leases are: 2001 - $85 million, 2002 - $72 million, 2003 - $58 million, 2004 - $40 million and
thereafter - $24 million. Each of these assets is depreciated on a straight-line basisover the term of
the lease in an amount necessary to reduce the leased vehicle to its estimated residual value at the end
of the lease term. Capitalized interest for 2000, 1999 and 1998 was $32 million, $15 million and $12
million, respectively.

8. DEBT

Millions of dollars 2000 1999

Manufacturing operations

Notes payable and current maturities of long-term debt..........ccccvvvvnnneee. $ 135 3 31

8% Senior Subordinated Notes, due 2008............oeweeemeernesssesessesseees 250 250

7% Senior NOtes, dug 2003.........cccwuemeeeesseresssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnns 100 100
MexXican Credit TaCHlILY.............rrevrernessssses s sssssssssssssssssssssns 75 83
Capitalized 163SeS AN OLNET.........coocvvveereiseresisresessssssssesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssees 12 12
Total [oNG-terM AEDL........... e sr s saas 437 445
Manufacturing Operations AeDL...........ccc.rrrrrrmernsnssrsessses s sesssessssssssens 572 476

Financial services operations

COMMEICIAI PAPET ..vv.eevvreeereeeeessseseeessssssssssssssssssessesssssssssesssssssssssesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssses 30 35
Current maturities of [ong-term debt...........cooevrrrrrerrrrrns s 133 126
Bank reVOIVERS, VATTADIE FALES..........c.ccreere s sesessssesessessssesesssssessssesssssssssessssssees 184 -
Total SNOM-EIM EDL..........veeereerereeereeee st sssssss st sesssssssss 347 161
Bank revolvers, variable rates, due through 2005...........cccocveninineneeniennen. 841 867
Asset-backed commercial paper program, variable rates,
termMinated 2000............cmrreeeemnressssssesssssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssenees - 413
Revolving retail warehouse facility, variable rates, due October 2005 500 -
Total long-term SENIOr AeDL..........c.c v sssssessenes 1,341 1,280
9% Senior Subordinated Notes, dug 2002............oeweeeeeeereresseessessssessseees 100 100
Capitalized leases, 4.1% to 6.7%, due serially through 2007................... 270 250
Total [oNG-terM AEDL..........oeeverecertsererres s ss s 1,711 1,630
Financial services Operations debt............coc.cerieriecnsnss s sssssssssenes 2,058 1,791
11721 = o N $ 2630 $ 2267

The effective annual interest rate on manufacturing notes payable was 7.8% in 2000, 7.7% in 1999
and 6.8% in 1998. Consolidated interest payments were $184 million, $144 million and $124 million
in 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.
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8. DEBT (continued)

The company arranged financing for $125 million and $189 million of funds denominated in U.S.
dollars and Mexican pesos to be used for investment in the company’s Mexican manufacturing and
financial services operations, respectively. As of October 31, 2000, borrowings outstanding under
these arrangements were $282 million, of which 50% is denominated in dollars and 50% in pesos. The
interest rates on the dollar-denominated debt are at a negotiated fixed rate or a variable rate based
either on LIBOR or the Federal Funds Rate. On peso-denominated debt, the interest rate is based on
the Interbank Interest Equilibrium Rate. The effective interest rate for the combined dollar and peso
denominated debt was 15.3% for 2000 and 18.1% for 1999.

NFC issues commercial paper with varying terms and has short-term borrowings with various banks
on a noncommitted basis. Compensating cash balances and commitment fees are not required under
these borrowings.

The aggregate contractual annual maturities for debt for the years ended October 31 are as follows:

Financial

Manufacturing Services
Millions of dollars Operations Operations Total
2001 RS $ 135 $ 1,122 $ 1,257
2002ttt RS 31 241 272
2003ttt RS 143 119 262
2004t RS 24 52 76
2005 aNA thEIEATET........oervveeersrsesssrssessisessssessssssssssssssssssssasssssssssees 239 524 763
TOMAlcuooose s ssssss eSS snssssnnsnee $ 572 $ 2,058 $ 2630

Subsequent to October 31, 2000, NFC renegotiated its revolving credit agreement. The new
agreement provides for aggregate borrowings of $820 million and will mature in November 2005.
Under the new revolving credit agreement, Navistar's three Mexican finance subsidiaries will be
permitted to borrow up to $100 million in the aggregate, which will be guaranteed by NFC. The
Statement of Financial Position reflects $775 million of Navistar’s bank revolvers due March 2001 as
long-term debt at October 31, 2000, since Navistar has refinanced $775 million of its revolving credit
agreement on a long-term basis.

Weighted average interest rate on total debt, including short-term, and the effect of discounts and
related amortization for the years ended:

OCLODEr 31, 2000 ..ooovevoierrreresressssssssessssssssssssssssesssssssssssssssssssssssses 9.3% 6.4% 7.5%
OCtODEr 31, 1990.......cccveeeimreeeersssssssesssssssssssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnas 10.1% 5.6% 6.6%

On October 16, 2000 Truck Retail Instalment Paper Company (TRIP), a special purpose wholly
owned subsidiary of NFC, terminated the previously existing $400 million Asset-Backed Commercial
Paper facility and issued $475 million of a senior class AAA rated and $25 million of a subordinated
class A rated floating rate asset-backed notes. The proceeds were used to purchase eligible receivables
from NFC and establish a revolving retail warehouse facility for NFC's retail notes and retail leases,
other than fair market value leases.

At October 31, 2000, NFC had a $925 million contractually committed bank revolving credit
facility and the $500 million revolving retail warehouse facility program. Under the terms of the
revolving retail warehouse facility program TRIP purchases eligible receivables from NFC using funds it
has received from the sale of $475 million of AAA rated notes and $25 million of A rated notes.
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8. DEBT (continued)

Available funding under the bank revolving credit facility and the revolving retail warehouse facility
was $30 million. When combined with unrestricted cash and cash equivalents, $72 million was available
to fund the general business purposes of NFC at October 31, 2000.

NFC’s wholly owned subsidiaries, Navistar Financial Securities Corporation (NFSC), NFRRC and
Truck Retail Accounts Corporation (TRAC), have a limited purpose of purchasing retail, wholesale and
account receivables, respectively, and transferring an undivided ownership interest in such receivables
to investors. The subsidiaries have limited recourse on the sold receivables and their assets are
available to satisfy the claims of their creditors prior to such assets becoming available to NFC or
affiliated companies.

NFSC has in place a revolving wholesale note trust that provides for the funding of $883 million of
eligible wholesale notes. At October 31, 2000 the revolving wholesale note trust was comprised of
three $200 million tranches of investor certificates maturing in 2003, 2004 and 2008, a $212 million
tranche of investor certificates maturing in 2005 and $125 million of variable funding certificates
maturing in 2001.

During fiscal 2000, in two separate sales, NFC sold a total of $1,008 million of retail notes, net of
unearned finance income, through NFRRC. The aggregate net gain recognized on the sale of these
notes was $3 million. The aggregate shelf registration available to NFRRC for issuance of asset-backed
securities is $1,783 million.

NFC has entered into various sale-leaseback agreements involving vehicles subject to retail finance
and operating leases with end users. The outstanding balances are classified under financial services
operations as capital lease obligations. These agreements grant the purchasers a security interest in the
underlying end user leases.

9. OTHER LIABILITIES

Major classifications of other liabilities at October 31 are as follows:

Millions of dollars 2000 1999
Product liability and WarTanty.............ccoeeeevvereseseesssssesssssssessssssssessssssssessssssnnnes $ 321 $ 319
Employee iNCENtIVE PIOGIaMS.........cuereueeeeesiessisssssesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssanes 69 212
Payroll, commissions and employee-related benefits..........ccccoevvericecnnnn. 93 103
Postretirement benefits Hability........c...coouvereernrineeresesiss s 122 153
Loss reserves and unearned PremiUMS..........c.uveeeeressssssssssssssssssssssssssssssassens 125 102
TTAXES..svvveeeevessssesssssssssssssssssssssssss s sssss s8R 132 163
SaleS aNA MATKELING...........oeerrrssrsseeess s sssss s ssssssssssessssssssssaens 53 56
Long-term disability and workers” compensation.............c.ccoveveveerneerreeennens 43 48
ENVITONMENTAL....vvvvvvvvvrsmsssssesessesesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssns 14 22
INEETESE......coceeeeeeeseeeeeessssss s ss s AR R 22 16
RESHIUCIUNING TESEIVE......urrvvvessssssssssssssssssssssssssssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnees 173 -
OB ...vvveeveeeessesessssssssssssssssssssssesssssssssssssssss s s 78 143

Total Other HADIIITIES. ........veceeeeereeeeese e e ses e b ses s senas 1,245 1,337

LSS CUITENE POITION. ..ovurvernrrersressrssssssssesssssssssssssssssssssesssssssssessssessssssssnns (831) (911)

Other long-term HabIlItIES............cooceeervvvverrsreseessssssssssseseesssssssssessssssseens $ 414 $ 426
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10. RESTRUCTURING CHARGE

In October 2000, the company incurred charges for restructuring, asset write-downs, loss on
anticipated sale of business, and other exit costs totaling $306 million as part of an overall plan to
restructure its manufacturing and corporate operations (“Plan of Restructuring”). The following are
the major restructuring, integration and cost reduction initiatives included in the Plan of
Restructuring:

Replacement of current steel cab trucks with a new line of high performance next generation
vehicles (NGV) and a concurrent realignment of the company’s truck manufacturing
facilities

Closure of certain operations and exit of certain activities

Launch of the next generation technology diesel engines

Consolidation of corporate operations

Realignment of the bus and truck dealership network and termination of various dealership
contracts

Of the pretax restructuring charge totaling $306 million, $124 million represents non-cash charges.
Approximately $8 million was spent in 2000 and the remaining $174 million is expected to be spent as
follows: 2001 - $66 million, 2002 - $42 million and 2003 and beyond - $66 million. The total cash
outlay is expected to be funded from existing cash balances and internally generated cash flows from
operations. The specific actionsincluded in the Plan of Restructuring are expected to be substantially
complete by November 2001.

Components of the restructuring charge are as follows:

Total Amount Balance

(Millions of dollars) Charges Incurred October 31,

2000
Severance and other benefits $ 104 $ (7 $ 97
Inventory write-downs 20 (20) -
Other asset write-downs and losses 93 (93) -
Lease terminations 33 - 33
Loss on anticipated sale of business 17 - 17
Dealer termination and exit costs 39 (1) 38
Total $ 306 $  (121) $ 185

The severance and other benefits cods, asset write-downs and losses, |ease terminations, |oss on
anticipated sale of business, dedler termination and exit cods, totaling $286 million, are presented as
“Restructuring and loss on anticipated sale of business’ in the Statement of Income. Inventory write-
down costs of $20 million are included in “Cost of products sold related to restructuring” in the
Statement of Income.
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10. RESTRUCTURING CHARGE (continued)

A description of the significant components of the restructuring chargeis as follows:

Pursuant to the Plan of Restructuring, 3,100 positions will be eliminated throughout the
company. Severance and other benefit costs relate to the reduction of approximately 2,100
employees from the workforce, primarily in North America. Of the total workforce reductions,
approximately 2,000 will be in International’s Truck Group, of which approximately 1,600 are
production-related employees, with the remainder impacting the Engine, Corporate and Financial
Services Groups. As of October 31, 2000, approximately $7 million had been paid for a portion
of the severance and other benefits for nearly 500 terminated employees. The remaining
reduction of approximately 1,600 employees will be substantially completed by late 2001 when
the majority of the NGV products will be in production. The reduction is primarily caused by a
reduction in the required workforce to assemble the new medium trucks, a lowering of anticipated
industry demand for certain products and the movement of products between manufacturing
facilities. Benefit costs will extend beyond the completion of the workforce reductions due to
the company’s contractual severance obligations. Additionally, the severance and other benefits
component includes a $12 million non-cash curtailment loss related to the company’s
postretirement benefit plans.

In 1997, International announced the extension of its engine contract for V-8 engines with Ford
until 2012. This contract extension included the development of new engines that provide better
performance and meet stricter emissions requirements. As part of the Plan of Restructuring, the
company finalized its plan for this new engine. The plan requires that certain existing
production assets be either replaced or disposed. Accordingly, International entered into sale-
leaseback transactions in October 2000 for certain of these affected production assets, which
resulted in the recognition of a $55 million charge for the excess of the carrying amount over
the fair value of these assets. In addition, a charge of $19 million was recorded for the
impairment of other engine production assets held for disposal and $9 million was recognized for
the write-down of engine service inventory that will be replaced. International’s preparation for
the launch of NGV, a new line of high performance steel cab trucks, which begins in March 2001
resulted in the write-off of $11 million of excess truck parts and service inventory related to
prior vehicle models. The remainder of the asset write-downs and losses primarily relate to assets
that were disposed of or abandoned as a direct result of the workforce reductions.

Lease termination costs include the future obligations under long-term non-cancelable lease
agreements at facilities being vacated following the workforce reductions. This charge primarily
consists of the estimated lease costs, net of probable sublease income, associated with the
cancelation of the company’s corporate office lease at NBC Tower in Chicago, Illinois, which
expires in 2010.

As part of the Plan of Restructuring, management evaluated the strategic importance of certain
of its operations. On November 30, 2000, NFC’s board of directors approved NFC
management’s plan to sell Harco within the next fiscal year. The effect of the anticipated sale of
Harco is reflected as a discontinued operation in NFC’s stand-alone financial statements because
Harco represents a major line of business and a reportable operating segment of NFC. However,
because Harco is not a major line of business nor a separate operating segment of Navistar, the
planned sale of Harco does not qualify for discontinued operations presentation in accordance
with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30 and accordingly, the anticipated loss on
disposal is included as a component of the restructuring charge. Additionally, due to the
anticipated sale of Harco within the next fiscal year, all of Harco’s assets and liabilities at
October 31, 2000 have been classified as current within the Statement of Financial Position.
Harco’s revenues and pretax income, respectively, were $56 million
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10. RESTRUCTURING CHARGE (continued)

and $1 million in 2000, $44 million and $5 million in 1999, and $42 million and $6 million in
1998. Total assets, primarily marketable securities, and total liabilities, primarily loss reserves,
were $155 million and $94 million, respectively, as of October 31, 2000 and $142 million and
$81 million, respectively, as of October 31, 1999.

Dealer termination and exit costs of $39 million principally include $17 million of settlement
costs related to the termination of certain dealer contracts in connection with the realignment of
the company’s bus distribution network, and other litigation and exit costs to implement the
restructuring initiatives.

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts of financial instruments, as reported in the Statement of Financial Condition

and described in various Notes to the Financial Statements, and their fair values at October 31 are as
follows:

2000 1999
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Millions of dollars Amount  Value Amount Value
Total reCeiVabIES, NEL.........oooecvvvevireeeesssrees s esssssssesenees $2542 $ 2,523 $2818 $2,824
Long-term investments and Other aSSets...........cvuveereeereeeenns 234 232 207 206
TOAl JEDL.......covvvveveevevssesessssssssssssssssssssssss s sssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssees 2,630 2,611 2,267 2,256

Cash and cash equivalents approximate fair value. The cost and fair value of marketable securities
are disclosed in Note 4.

The fair value of notes receivable and retail notes is estimated by discounting expected cash flows
at estimated current market rates. Customer receivables, wholesale notes and retail and wholesale
accounts approximate fair value as a result of the short-term nature of the receivables.

The fair value of investments and other assets is estimated based on quoted market prices or by
discounting future cash flows.

The short-term debt and variable-rate borrowings under NFC's bank revolving credit agreement,
which are repriced frequently, approximate fair value. The fair value of long-term debt is estimated
based on quoted market prices, where available. If a quoted market price is not available, fair value is
estimated using quoted market prices for similar financial instruments or discounting future cash flows.

Derivatives Held or Issued for Purposes Other Than Trading

The company uses derivatives to transfer or reduce risks of foreign exchange and interest rate
volatility, and to potentially increase the return on invested funds.

The company periodically enters into forward contracts in order to reduce exposure to exchange
rate risk related to purchases denominated in currencies other than the functional currency.
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11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Derivatives Held or Issued for Purposes Other Than Trading (continued)

The financial services operations manage exposures to fluctuations in interest rates by limiting the
amount of fixed rate assets funded with variable rate debt generally by selling fixed rate receivables on a
fixed rate basis and by utilizing derivative financial instruments. These derivative financial instruments
may include interest rate swaps, interest rate caps and forward contracts. The fair value of these
instruments is estimated based on quoted market prices and is subject to market risk as the instruments
may become less valuable due to changes in market conditions or interest rates. NFC manages exposure
to counter-party credit risk by entering into derivative financial instruments with major financial
institutions that can be expected to fully perform under the terms of such agreements. NFC’s credit
exposure is limited to the fair value of contracts with a positive fair value at the reporting date.
Notional amounts are used to measure the volume of derivative financial instruments and do not
represent exposure to credit loss.

The financial services operations enter into derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure
to fluctuations in the fair value of retail notes expected to be sold. The financial services operations
manage such risk by entering into forward contracts to sell fixed debt securities or forward interest rate
swaps whose fair value is highly correlated with that of its receivables. Income recognition of changes
in fair value of the derivatives is deferred until the derivative instruments are closed. Gainsor losses
incurred with the closing of these agreements are included as a component of the gain or loss on sale of
receivables.

In November 1998, NFC sold $545 million of fixed rate retail receivables to a multi-seller asset-
backed commercial paper conduit sponsored by a major financial institution on a variable rate basis.
For the protection of investors in these securities, NFC issued an interest rate cap. The notional
amount of the cap amortizes based on the expected outstanding principal balance of the sold retail
receivables. Under the terms of the cap agreement, NFC will make payments if interest rates exceed
certain levels. As of October 31, 2000, the interest rate cap had a notional amount of $224 million
and is recorded at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in income. For the year ended
October 31, 2000, the impact on income was not material.

In November 1999, NFC sold $533 million of fixed rate retail receivables on a variable rate basis
and entered into an amortizing interest rate swap agreement to fix the future cash flows of interest paid
to lenders. In March 2000, NFC transferred all of the rights and obligations of the swap to the bank
conduit. The notional amount of the amortizing swap is based on the expected outstanding principal
balance of the sold retail receivables. Under the terms of the agreement, NFC will make or receive
payments based on the difference between the transferred swap notional amount and the outstanding
principal balance of the sold retail receivables. As of October 31, 2000 the difference between the
amortizing swap notional amount and the net outstanding principal balance of the sold retail
receivables was $11 million.

In October 2000, NFC entered into a $500 million revolving retail facility as a method to fund
retail notes and finance leases prior to the sale of receivables. Under the terms of this facility, NFC
sells fixed rate retail notes or finance leases to the conduit and pays investors a floating rate of interest.
As required by the rating agencies, NFC purchased an interest rate cap to protect investors in these
securities against rising interest rates. To offset the economic cost of this cap, NFC sold an identical
interest rate cap. As of October 31, 2000 the interest rate caps each had a notional amount of $500
million and a net fair value of zero.



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2000

11. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Derivatives Held or Issued for Purposes Other Than Trading (continued)

At October 31, 2000, the company held German mark forward contracts with notional amounts of
$35 million and other derivative contracts with notional amounts of $38 million. At October 31,
2000 the unrealized net loss on these contracts was not material.

Discussion of Navistar’s adoption of SFAS 133 is disclosed in Note 1.

12. COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES, RESTRICTED ASSETS, CONCENTRATIONS
AND LEASES

Commitments, Contingencies and Restricted Assets

At October 31, 2000, commitments for capital expenditures in progress were approximately $268
million. The company’s truck assembly facility located in Escobedo, Mexico is encumbered by a lien in
favor of certain lenders of the company as collateral for the $125 million revolving Mexican credit
facility. At October 31, 2000, $23 million of a Mexican subsidiary’s receivables were pledged as
collateral for bank borrowings. In addition, as of October 31, 2000, the company is contingently liable
for approximately $169 million for various purchasing commitments, credit guarantees and buyback
programs. Based on historical loss trends, the company’s exposure is not considered material.
Additionally, restrictions under the terms on the senior and senior subordinated notes and Mexican
credit facility include a limitation on indebtedness and a limitation on certain restricted payments.

At October 31, 2000, the Canadian operating subsidiary was contingently liable for retail customers'
contracts and leases financed by a third party. The Canadian operating subsidiary is subject to
maximum recourse of $312 million on retail contracts and $33 million on retail leases. The Canadian
operating subsidiary, NFC and certain other subsidiaries included in financial services operations are
parties to agreements that may result in the restriction of amounts which can be distributed to
International in the form of dividends or loans and advances. At October 31, 2000, the maximum
amount of dividends that were available for distribution under the most restrictive covenants was $248
million.

The company and International are obligated under certain agreements with public and private
lenders of NFC to maintain the subsidiary's income before interest expense and income taxes at not less
than 125% of its total interest expense. No income maintenance payments were required for any of
the three years ended October 31, 2000.

Concentrations

At October 31, 2000, the company employed 9,900 hourly workers and 6,300 salaried workers in
the U.S. and Canada. Approximately 97% of the hourly employees and 21% of the salaried employees
are represented by unions. Of these represented employees, 80% of the hourly workers and 95% of the
salaried workers are represented by the United Automobile, Aerospace, and Agricultural Implement
Workers of America (UAW) or the National Automobile, Aerospace, and Agricultural Implement
Workers of Canada (CAW). The company’s current master contract with the UAW expires on
October 1, 2002. The collective bargaining agreement with the CAW expires on June 1, 2002.
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12. COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES, RESTRICTED ASSETS, CONCENTRATIONS
AND LEASES (continued)

Concentrations (continued)

Reflecting higher consumer demand for light trucks and vans, sales of mid-range diesel engines to
Ford by the engine segment were 18% of consolidated sales and revenues in 2000, 17% in 1999 and
14% in 1998. During 1997, Navistar entered into a 10-year agreement, effective with model year
2003, to supply Ford with a successor engine to the current 7.3 liter product for use in its diesel-
powered super duty trucks and vans (over 8,500 Ibs. GVW). In fiscal 2000, the company finalized an
agreement with Ford to supply diesel engines for certain under 8,500 Ibs. GVW light duty trucks and
sport utility vehicles. This contract extends through 2012.

The company has long-term non-cancelable leases for use of various equipment and facilities.
Lease terms are generally for five to 25 years and, in many cases, provide for renewal options. The
company is generally obligated for the cost of property taxes, insurance and maintenance. The
company leases office buildings, distribution centers, furniture and equipment, machinery and
equipment, and computer equipment.

The majority of the company’s lease payments are for operating leases. At October 31, 2000,
future minimum lease payments under operating leases having lease terms in excess of one year,
including the net lease payments accrued for in the restructuring reserve, are: 2001 - $53 million, 2002
- $40 million, 2003 - $33 million, 2004 - $26 million, 2005 - $26 million and thereafter - $96 million.
Total operating lease expense was $33 million in 2000, $30 million in 1999 and $36 million in 1998.
Income received from sublease rentals was $6 million in 2000 and $7 million in 1999 and 1998.

13. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

The company and its subsidiaries are subject to various claims arising in the ordinary course of
business, and are parties to various legal proceedings that constitute ordinary routine litigation
incidental to the business of the company and its subsidiaries. In the opinion of the company's
management, none of these proceedings or claims is material to the business or the financial condition
of the company.

The company has been named a potentially responsible party (PRP), in conjunction with other
parties, in a number of cases arising under an environmental protection law, the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, popularly known as the Superfund law.
These cases involve sites which allegedly have received wastes from current or former company
locations. Based on information available to the company, which, in most cases, consists of data
related to quantities and characteristics of material generated at or shipped to each site as well as cost
estimates from PRPs and/or federal or state regulatory agencies for the cleanup of these sites, a
reasonable estimate is calculated of the company's share, if any, of the probable costs and is provided
for in the financial statements. These obligations are generally recognized no later than completion of
the remedial feasibility study and are not discounted to their present value. The company reviews its
accruals on a regular basis and believes that, based on these calculations, its share of the potential
additional costs for the cleanup of each site will not have a material effect on the company's financial
results.
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14. SEGMENT DATA

Navistar has three reportable segments: truck, engine and financial services. The company’s
reportable segments are organized according to the products and the markets they each serve.

The company’s truck segment manufactures and distributes a full line of diesel-powered trucks and
school buses in the common carrier, private carrier, government/service, leasing, construction,
energy/petroleum and student transportation markets. The truck segment also provides customers with
proprietary products needed to support the International® truck and bus lines, together with a wide
selection of standard truck and trailer aftermarket parts.

The company’s engine segment designs and manufactures diesel engines for use in the company’s
Class 5, 6 and 7 medium trucks and school buses and selected Class 8 heavy truck models, and for sale to
OEMs in the U.S. and Mexico. This segment also sells engines for industrial, agricultural and marine
applications. In addition, the engine segment provides customers with proprietary products needed to
support the International® engine lines, together with a wide selection of standard engine and
aftermarket parts.

The company’s financial services segment consists of NFC, its domestic insurance subsidiary and
the company’s foreign finance and insurance subsidiaries. NFC’s primary business is the retail,
wholesale and lease financing of products sold by the truck segment and its dealers within the U.S. as
well as the company’s wholesale accounts and selected retail accounts receivable. NFC’s insurance
subsidiary provides commercial physical damage and liability insurance to the truck segment’s dealers
and retail customers and to the general public through an independent insurance agency system. The
foreign finance subsidiaries’ primary business is to provide wholesale, retail and lease financing to the
Mexican operations’ dealers and retail customers.

The company evaluates the performance of its operating segments based on operating profits,
which exclude certain corporate items, non-recurring charges, including the restructuring charge, and
retiree pension and medical expense. Additionally, the operating profits of the company’s truck and
engine segments exclude most interest revenue and expense items. Intersegment sales are transferred at
prices established by an agreement between the buying and selling locations.
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Reportable operating segment data follows:

Financial
Millions of dollars Truck Engine Services Total
For the year ended October 31, 2000
EXtErnal FeVENUES.........eveerreereeeeeeeseessssesssesssseeens $ 6,365 $ 1,754 $ 299 $ 8,418
Intersegment revenues.... - 676 88 764
TOtal FEVENUES.......eoreeerrreessrnsessesesesssssesssnenes $ 6,365 $ 2430 $ 387 $ 9,182
INEEIESE EXPENSE....vvvvevereeersvsssssssneessssssssssssssssssssssns $ - $ - $ 129 $ 129
Depreciation............. 74 53 59 186
Segment profit (a) 179 331 98 608
As of October 31, 2000
SEYMENE ASSELS....vervrverreerreeresereseessssssesssssssssssssnns $ 1,939 $ 1,066 $ 2,900 $ 5,905
Capital expenditures (b)..........coevevveenrenseneereeernnens 200 337 91 628
For the year ended October 31, 1999
EXtErnal FEVENUES..........ccreeeeeerieriesesessessessssieseens $ 1,698 $ 273 $ 8,599
Intersegment revenues.... 681 71 752
Total revenues................ $ 2379 $ 344 $ 9,351
INEEIESt EXPENSE. .cevrvvvvvvevveesessssssssssssesesssssssssssssssssssens $ - $ - $ 103 $ 103
Depreciation.... 62 59 48 169
Segment profit 295 294 102 691
As of October 31, 1999
SEYMENE BSSELS.....vvveerrverrsresessseessssessssesssesssssenees $ 1,852 $ 814 $ 3,009 $ 5,675
Capital expenditures (D)..........ccrevreereeneeereeenernennne 199 213 110 522
For the year ended October 31, 1998
EXternal FeVENUES.........eveerreerereeeeeseessseesssessssesens $ 6,276 $ 1,353 $ 219 $ 7,848
INtErSEgMENt FEVENUES.......c..vveeverrereereeseessesseesesseesnes - 606 67 673
TOtal FEVENUES.......coreeerrreessrrsessenssesssssessssenes $ 6,276 $ 1959 $ 286 $ 8521
Interest expense $ - $ - $ 82 $ 82
Depreciation............. 54 63 35 152
Segment profit 246 186 74 506
As of October 31, 1998
SEYMENE ASSELS...vorvrverrersreesresersseessssssessssssssssssnns $ 1,379 $ 584 $ 2,310 $ 4,273
Capital expenditures (b)..........coevevreenrenrenerreerernnens 184 107 127 418

(@ Before the impact of the restructuring charge.

(b) Capital expenditures include the net increase in property and equipment leased to others.
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Reconciliation to the consolidated financial statements as of and for the years ended October 31 was as follows:

Millions of dollars 2000 1999 1998
Segment sales and revenues $ 9,182 $ 9,351 $ 8,521
Other iINCOME........vvvrereerererreeerreereseenns 33 43 37
INEEICOMPANY.......cvorrrerrrireerieereseereeeesseesssesseenas (764) (752) (673)
Consolidated sales and revenues................c.. $ 8451 $ 8642 $ 7.885
SEYMENT PrOfiti.ecerrerrsrerrerveresssssssssssssssssssssssssssns $ 608 $ 691 $ 506
RESLIUCIUNNG ChAIGE.......oueveureemeerieriereseesseesiseennes (306) - -
(@001 010 £= U= 1] 11 P (89) (103) (118)
Manufacturing net interest inCOMe............ccocveereene 11 3 22
Consolidated pretax inCoME .....cenervevsvivinnns $ 224 $ 591 $ 410
Segment iNterest EXPENSE.........wwvvvvvvvvvvsssssssssssassnnns $ 129 $ 103 $ 82
Manufacturing expense and eliminations............... 17 32 23
Consolidated interest EXPenSe.....wrvvvvvsssennnns $ 146 $ 135 $ 105
Segment depreciation

and amortization eXPense............wwmwnn $ 186 $ 169 $ 152
COrporate EBXPENSE. .....vverereererreissrssississsssesssssssessesssssnes 13 5 7
Consolidated depreciation

and amortization eXPense......cwerseennn: $ 199 $ 174 $ 159
SEGMENT ASSELS.....ovvreeereeeeseessssseseeessssssssssesesesssssssssens $ 5,905 $ 5,675 $ 4,273
Cash and marketable SECUNtIES...........wwrmrrmrreereerens 167 327 869
DEfErTed tAXES. .. vvoreereererrreressssesmssssssssssssssssssssssssssesans 862 896 912
Corporate intangible pension assets.............cvcveenee 50 92 124
Other corporate and eliminations.............ccoceeeeeeenees (39) (62) 11
Consolidated aSSEtS........wrrrvvvvsvsssssssssssssssssssnsannns $ 6,945 $ 6,928 $ 6,189

Segment capital expenditures (a) $ 628 $ 522 $ 418
Corporate capital eXpenditures..........ccocreereereereeenees 15 13 9
Consolidated capital expenditures............... $ 643 $ 535 $ 427

(@ Capital expenditures include the net increase in property and equipment leased to others.

Information concerning principal geographic areas as of and for the years ended October 31 was as follows:

Millions of dollars 2000 1999 1998
Revenues
UNited SEAtES......cc.oeevreerereeeereeriseeserseeennae $ 7,482 $ 7,695 $ 7,065
FOreign CoUNries........c.vvueereeeeeeneeeeennees 969 947 820

Property and equipment
United SEALES.......rreermreeesmreessereeesnnesesnens $ 1,486 $ 1,188 $ 885
FOreign CoOUNEIIES........c.oeeereeereerrererneiiens 293 287 221



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2000

15. PREFERRED AND PREFERENCE STOCKS

The UAW holds the Nonconvertible Junior Preference Stock Series B and is currently entitled to
elect one member of the company's board of directors. At October 31, 2000, there was one share of
Series B Preference stock authorized and outstanding. The value of the preference share is minimal.

On April 20, 1999, the company’s board of directors adopted a shareholder rights plan (Rights
Plan) and declared a rights dividend of one preferred share purchase right (Right) for each outstanding
share of common stock (Common Shares) of the company to shareowners of record as of the close of
business on May 3, 1999. Subject to the terms of the Rights Plan, each Right entitles the registered
holder to purchase from the company one one-thousandth of a share of Series A Junior Participating
Preferred Stock of the company (Preferred Shares) at a price of $175 per one one-thousandth of a
Preferred Share, subject to adjustment. The Rights are exercisable only if a person or group (Acquiring
Person) acquires 15% or more of the outstanding Common Shares and commences a tender offer for
15% or more of the outstanding Common Shares. Upon any such occurrence, each Right will entitle its
holder (other than the Acquiring Person and certain related parties) to purchase, at the Right’s then
current exercise price, a number of Common Shares having a market value of two times such price.
Similarly, in the event the company is acquired in a merger or other business combination and is not
the surviving corporation, each Right (other than Rights owned by the Acquiring Person and certain
related parties) shall thereafter be exercisable for a number of shares of common stock of the acquiring
company having a market value of two times the exercise price of the Right. Subject to certain
conditions, the Rights are redeemable by the company’s board of directors for $0.01 per Right and are
exchangeable for Common Shares. The Rights have no voting power and initially expire on May 3,
2009.

During 1998, the company redeemed all 4.8 million shares of its $6.00 Series G Convertible
Cumulative Preferred Stock at a redemption price of $50 per share plus accrued dividends. At October
31, 2000, there were 162,000 shares of Series D Convertible Junior Preference Stock (Series D)
outstanding and 3 million authorized and issued with an optional redemption price and liquidation
preference of $25 per share plus accrued dividends. The Series D converts into common stock (subject
to adjustment in certain circumstances) at .3125 per share. The Series D ranks senior to common
stock as to dividends and liquidation and receives dividends at a rate of 120% of the cash dividends on
common stock as declared on an as-converted basis.

Under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (DGCL), dividends may only be paid
out of surplus or out of net profits for the fiscal year in which the dividend is declared or the preceding
fiscal year, and no dividend may be paid on common stock at any time during which the capital of
outstanding preferred stock or preference stock exceeds the net assets of the company. At October 31,
2000, the company had a surplus of $1,306 million as defined under DGCL.



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2000

16. COMMON SHAREOWNERS’ EQUITY

Changes in certain shareowners’ equity accounts are as follows:

Millions of dollars 2000 1999 1998
Common Stock

BEGINNING OF YBAN ... csssssssssssssssssssssssssseesssssssssssssssssssssens $ 2,139 $ 2,139 $ 1,659
Conversion of Class B common stock and other.................... - - 480
BN O YEAN.c.coooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseeeee s $ 2139 $ 2139 $ 2139
Class B Common Stock

BegINNING OF YEAI..........corrreeseisssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssseees $ - $ - $ 471
Conversion/repurchase Of SEOCK............wereerremeenerssereserseesseseeees - - (471)
ENG OF YBAN.....oooeeeeeevrvssssssssseessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssessssssssssssess $ - $ - $ -
Retained Earnings (Deficit)

BEGINNING OF YEA........ovovveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeesesessesssssssssss s sssssssssssssssssssssess $ (297) $ (829) $ (1,109)
INELINCOIME....vvrrrrrreeeeeseereeesesssssessesssssssssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssseees 159 544 299
Preferred dIVIJENGS............orreeerrreeenreeeseseeesssseseessssseseesssseseesssssesesees - - (12)
ONET oo ovevvvrsseesssssssssssssssss s ssssss s sssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssees (5) (12) (8)
ENG OF VBN ...ooorerereieteeneeenesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssses $ (143) $  (297) $ (829)
Common Stock Held in Treasury

BEGINNING OF YEAN......ieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeesseesssssssssssssssssssssssssssessssssssssssssssssssssens $ (358) $ (214) $ (53)
Repurchase of common stock and other...........ccccceevecnvccinnen. (151) (144) (189)
Reissuance Of treasury Shares.........c..rveernmssiessssssssesssssssssssssenns - - 28
BN O YEANc.coooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeereeeeeeeseseeseeseessse s $ (509 $ (358) $ (214)

Common Stock

The company has authorized 110 million shares of common stock with a par value of $0.10 per
share. At October 31, 2000 and 1999, there were 59.4 million and 63.2 million shares of common
stock outstanding, net of common stock held in treasury, respectively.

In January 1998, the company repurchased 3.2 million shares of the Class B common stock that
was outstanding. During June 1998, a secondary public offering of the common stock of the
company was completed, in which the Navistar International Transportation Corp. Retiree
Supplemental Benefit Trust (Trust) sold approximately 19.9 million shares of common stock at an
offering price of $26.50 per share. These shares represented the Class B common stock held by the
Trust which automatically converted into common stock upon the sale. In conjunction with this
offering, the company purchased 2 million of the shares being offered. The company did not receive
any proceeds from the sale of the shares in the offering. In addition, the underwriters exercised their
over-allotment option and elected to purchase 1.1 million shares from the company at $26.50 per
share. The company offset the dilution through open market purchases.



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE THREE YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2000
16. COMMON SHAREOWNERS’ EQUITY (continued)
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss as of October 31 are as follows (in
millions of dollars):

Foreign

Minimum Currency Accumulated

Pension Translation Other

Liability Adjustments Comprehensive

Adjustments and Other Loss

2000.cceeerrrsmrrssssssssssssssssssssssssses $ (150) $ (27) $(177)
LS (184) (13) (197)
1908......ooommmrvmmmsssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssees (336) 5 (331)

In the Statement of Comprehensive Income, the tax effects of foreign currency translation
adjustments and other were not material for each of the years in the three year period ended
October 31, 2000.

17. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share was computed as follows:

Millions of dollars, except share and per share data 2000 1999 1998

NELINCOME. .vvvreresvverrvsssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssses $ 159 $ 544 $ 299
Less dividends on Series G preferred StOCK.........cocoveverereeerereennnns - 11

Net income applicable to common stock (Basic and Diluted) $ 159 $ 544 $ 288

BASIC.....ovvveereseesseesssssssssesssssssssssssssssssssss s 60.7 65.2 69.1
Dilutive effect of options outstanding

and other dilutive SECUTEIES..........c.eveeernrereeereeereeererereeereeenee 0.8 1.2 9
DIIULEC. .oorrrererrerveveeeeeeesessssssssssssssssssmsssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssens 61.5 66.4 70.0

$ 8.34 $ 4.16
0 4.11

Unexercised employee stock options to purchase 1.1 million, .2 million and .5 million shares of
Navistar common stock during the years ended October 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively, were
not included in the computation of diluted shares outstanding because the exercise prices were greater
than the average market prices of Navistar common stock. Additionally, the diluted calculation for
1998 excludes the effects of the conversion of the Series G preferred stock as such conversion would
have been anti-dilutive.



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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18. STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS

The company has stock-based compensation plans, approved by the Committee on Compensation
and Governance of the board of directors, which provide for granting of stock options to employees
for purchase of common stock at the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant. The grants
generally have a 10-year contractual life.

The company has elected to continue to account for stock option grants to employees and
directors in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 and related interpretations.
Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized for fixed stock options because the exercise
prices of the stock options equal the market value of the company’s common stock at the date of
grant. Had compensation cost for the plans been determined based upon the fair value at the grant date
consistent with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation,” pro forma net income would have been $152 million in 2000, $542 million in 1999
and $297 million in 1998; pro forma diluted earnings per share would have been $2.47 in 2000, $8.16
in 1999 and $4.09 in 1998; and pro forma basic earnings per share would have been $2.51 in 2000,
$8.30 in 1999 and $4.14 in 1998.

The weighted-average fair values at date of grant for options granted during 2000, 1999 and 1998
were $14.50, $8.15 and $7.53, respectively, and were estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model with the following assumptions:

2000 1999 1998
RISK-TTEE INTEIESE FALE.......vvvversereeesseessseeesesssessssssessssssssssssssssssssssssssnas 6.1% 4.5% 5.7%
DIVIAENA YIEI..........ooooirrererressssssssssesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssess 0% 0% 0%
EXpECted VOIALIItY.........cccovvrerrriseceriees i sssssssssssesssssssssssssssssssanens 36.9% 35.1% 31.9%
EXpected life INYEArS........c..ovrvrimnreriesssisesssssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnens 4.0 4.0 3.5

The following summarizes stock option activity for the years ended October 31:

2000 1999 1998

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Exercise Exercise Exercise

Shares in thousands Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Options outstanding

at beginning of vyear..... 3,102 $23.30 2,538 $20.29 2,430 $ 18.73

(€17:191 (7o I 1,470 39.67 1,271 27.16 809 23.93

EXEICISE.....vvvernreeerereeerrereeenane. (624) 16.72 (563) 17.78 (592) 14.23

Canceled.....coomrreeemmmreeeeesieneee (134) 37.25 (144) 25.82 (109) 45.45
Options outstanding

atyear-end...........oocereeenns 3,814 $30.20 3,102 $23.30 2,538 $20.29
Options exercisable

at year-end........coocovveenreenns 1,445 $ 23.36 1,468 $19.94 1,765 $18.73

Options available for
grant at year-end............. 856 1,564

‘ N
=
w



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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18. STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS (continued)

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at October 31,
2000.

Outstanding Options Options Exercisable
Weighted
Number Average Weighted Number Weighted
Range of Outstanding Remaining Average Exercisable Average
Exercise Prices (in thousands) Contractual Life Exercise Price (in thousands)  Exercise Price

$9.56 - $13.75 384 6.1 $ 11.30 384 $ 11.30
17.41 - 26.66 1,740 8.2 24.86 858 24.41
27.97 - 37.72 359 9.1 34.65 98 34.53
38.19 - 53.69 1,331 9.6 41.44 105 48.70

19. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (Unaudited)

1% Quarter 2" Quarter 3" Quarter 4™ Quarter

Millions of dollars,
except per share data 2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999
Sales and reVeNUES............oeeeeeereeereeennns $ 2166 $1,924 $ 2,388 $ 2,287 $ 1924 $1874 $ 1973 $ 25
Manufacturing gross margin............... 16.6% 16.5% 18.0% 17.9% 17.5% 18.3% 14.8% 19.1
Manufacturing gross margin

excluding restructuring charge.. 16.5% 18.0% 17.9% 175%  18.3% 15.8% 19.1

16.6%

Net income/(10SS).....vveeererreeereererrereeenns $ 70 $ 61 % 98 $ 96 $ 9% $ 255 $ (105 $ 1
Earnings/(loss) per share (a)

BaSIC.....vverereviseresessnsssessssssssssssssnnens $ 112 $092 $ 161 $ 144 $ 162 $ 394 $ (177 $ 2l

(D] (11T SO RRRRN $ 110 $091 $ 158 $ 142 $ 160 $ 38 $ (177) $ 2l
Net income excluding restructuring

charge and tax valuation

allowance adjustment (b)............ $ 70 $ 61 $ 98 $ 96 $ 9% $ 77 % 8 $ 1
Market price range-common stock

HIGN. s $48 $34 3/¢  $413/16  $53 1/2 $37 $56 1/4 $40 3/8  $5111

LOW..otrrerereenesnneesssseesssssesssneens $35 12 $21 1/€ $31 5/8  $32 1/8 $295/8 $41 $2913/16  $36 1

@ Diluted earnings per share excluding restructuring charge and tax valuation allowance adjustment for the quarters ended October 31,
2000 and July 31, 1999 was $1.41 and $1.17, respectively.

() Inthe fourth quarter of 2000, the company recorded an after-tax restructuring charge of $190 million, and additionally benefited
from the reversal of $54 million of profit sharing and incentive compensation. In the third quarter of 1999, the company benefited
from a reduction to the deferred tax asset valuation allowance of $178 million.



FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY OF SELECTED FINANCIAL AND STATISTICAL DATA

As of and for the Years Ended October 31
(Millions of dollars, except share data,
units shipped and percentages) 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Salesand revenues $ 8451 $ 8,642 $ 788 $ 6,371 $ 5,754
Netinoome 159 544 299 150 65
Earnings per share
Basic. 2.62 8.34 4.16 1.66 49
Diluted () 2.58 8.20 4.11 1.65 49
Net income excluding restructuring charge and tax
valuation allowance adjuStMENtS (D).......cccueeevereeesssessssssssssees 349 366 254 150 65
Average number of shares outstanding (millions)
Basic. 60.7 65.2 69.1 73.1 73.7
Diluted 61.5 66.4 70.0 73.6 73.8

FINANCIAL DATA

Tolal assats $ 6,945 $ 6,928 $ 6,189 $ 5,516 $ 5,326
Long-term debt
Manufacturing operations $ 437 $ 445 $ 446 % 80 $ 99
Financial services operations. 1711 1,630 1,490 1,070 1,206
Total long-ermdebit $ 2148 $ 2075 $ 1936 $ 1150 $ 1305
Shareonners’ equity. 1,314 1,291 769 1,020 916

Total manufacturing operations’
long-term debt as a percent

of total manufacturing capitalization...................mmmeees 23.2% 25.2% 36.6% 7.2% 9.6%
Retumoneaity. 12.1% 42.2% 38.9% 14.7% 7.1%
SUPPLEMENTAL DATA
Capital expeniitures $ 553 $ 427 $ 302 $ 169 $ 111
Engineering and research expense, 280 281 192 124 129

OPERATING DATA

Manufacturing gross margin. 16.8% 18.0% 15.3% 14.2% 12.5%
Manufacturing gross margin excluding

restructuring charge 17.0% 18.0% 15.3% 14.2% 12.5%
U.S. and Canadian market share (C) 26.9% 25.6% 29.1% 28.3% 27.5%
Unit shipments worldwide

Tiuds 124,900 129,000 127,500 104,400 95,200

OCEMengines. 304,400 286,500 213,700 184,000 163,200

(a) Diluted earnings per share excluding the restructuring charge and tax valuation allowance adjustments for the years
2000 to 1996 were $5.67, $5.52, $3.47, $1.65 and $0.49, respectively.

(b) In fiscal year 2000, the company recorded an after-tax restructuring charge of $190 million. In fiscal years 1999 and
1998, the company benefited from reductions to the company’s deferred tax asset valuation allowance of $178 million
and $45 million, respectively.

(c) Based on retail deliveries of medium trucks (Classes 5, 6 and 7), including school buses, and heavy trucks (Class 8).



ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Unaudited)

The following additional financial information is provided based upon the continuing interest of certain

shareholders and creditors.

Navistar International Corporation (with financial services operations on an equity basis)

in millions of dollars

As of October 31 and for the Years Then Ended

Condensed Statement of Income 2000 1999 1998
Sales of manufactured ProdUCES..........cceeeeereeeeeseneeessssnseeeesssseneeees $ 8,119 $ 8,326 $ 7,629
OtNEY INCOME.....verreeeeerereressessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss 33 44 49
Total sales and FEVENUES .......mmmmvmmmmmmsmssssssssssssssssssssssssssees 8,152 8,370 7,678
COost OF PrOUCTS SOI........vvveureeeerersesssesssssssssssssssssssssesssssssssssssensens 6,737 6,826 6,464
Cost of products sold related to restructuring...........c.ccceeveveee. 20 - -
Total cost of products and services sold............ccocevrennee. 6,757 6,826 6,464
RESLIUCIUNING COSES..ovvvunrvvvrssrssssesssssssesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssns 267 - -
PoStretiremMent DENETILS. ........rvweeerceeeeeeesssesssssessssssessssssseees 146 216 174
Engineering and research EXPENSE.........c.cvuerenererenssessnssessessessesens 280 281 192
Sales, general and administrative eXPENSE..........covueverneeerreeeriennns 428 433 390
OthEr EXPENSE.....voorrsssssesssssssssssssssss st ssssssssssssssssessssssssssssssssns 135 140 137
Total costs and EXPENSES .wwwrmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmsssssssssssssssses 8,013 7,896 7,357
Income before income taxes
Manufacturing OPErations..............eeeeeereereeemeeeseeesmeessmesssseeenes 139 474 321
Financial Services Operations............oovreeeeeereeeneesneereeeneeens. 85 117 89
Income before iNCOME taXES.........vveverrerrerreerrersereesneennenees 224 591 410
INCOME tAX EXPENSE.......covvrerererrerersrerensseersenssesrsseesssseseenns 65 47 111
NET INCOME oovvrevrrerrrssrsssssssssssssssssss s ssssssses $ 159 $ 544 $ 299
Condensed Statement of Financial Condition 2000 1999
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities.................... $ 294 $ 386
INVEITEOTIES. ..vrveveevssssrerrveesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnnns 597 604
Property and eqUIPMENT, NEL..........c.veemereeeieesesenessseesssesseeseens 1,464 1,188
Equity in non-consolidated SubSIdiaries...........c.cvrreeeeeeneereereennens 386 377
(@1 LT 1 TN 1,095 1,527
Deferred taX aSSEL, NEL.........oiecreieisiee s sssssssseas 862 896
QL0 L€ L= 1Y =1 OO $ 4,698 $ 4978
Accounts payable, principally trade..........c.coooeveveneineiercneeneeneennns $ 1,087 $ 1,386
Postretirement benefits liability..........ccoovenrneininncincineneercneenen, 773 776
(01015 g 1= 0| 11T 1,524 1,525
ShareOWNEYS” EQUILY.....cvveuureeerseseessssssssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssns 1,314 1,291
Total liabilities and shareowners’ equity............... $ 4698 $ 4978



ADDITIONAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Unaudited)

Navistar International Corporation (with financial services operations on an equity basis)
in millions of dollars

For the Years Ended October 31

Condensed Statement of Cash Flow 2000 1999 1998

Cash flow from operations
NEt INCOME....eiiiiiieiiic et $ 159 $ 544 $ 299
Adjustments to reconcile net income

to cash provided by operations:

Depreciation and amortization.......................... 140 126 123
Deferred income taxes........ccccceevvivvvieieeeniinnnnne, 56 185 149
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance and other
tax adjustmentS..........cccviiiiiiii e (20) (178) (45)
Postretirement benefits funding
(in excess of) less than expense................. 3) 47 (373)
Equity in earnings of investees, net of
dividends received.........ccccccvvviiiiineie e, (31) (18) (1)
Non-cash restructuring charge...........ccccccvvvnnnee. 113 - -
Other, Net.....ovecii e, (42) (18) 9
Change in operating assets and liabilities....................... (280) (25) 331
Cash provided by operations .........ccccccovviviiinennnnn, 92 663 492
Cash flow from investment programs
Purchases of marketable securities...........c.ccoceeviveeiinnne. (135) (323) (772)
Sales or maturities of marketable securities................... 277 651 449
Capital eXpenditures.........ccccevivveeiiiiiieeie e (552) (425) (300)
Proceeds from sale-leasebacks...........cccccooviiiiiiciiiinenn, 90 - -
Receivable from financial services operations................ 365 (553) (7)
Investment in affiliates............ccccoovii, (6) (71) (7)
Capitalized interest and other............cccccooeeiiiiiieiinnn. (30) (17) (1)
Cash provided by (used in) investment programs.. 9 (738) (638)
Cash used in financing activities ...........ccccceveeeenn, (55) (109) (76)
Cash and cash equivalents
Increase (decrease) during the period............ccccveeeennne. 46 (184) (222)
At beginning of year........cccccccoooiiiii e, 167 351 573

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period..... $ 213 $ 167 $ 351




ITEM 9. CHANGESIN AND DISAGREEMENTSWITH ACCOUNTANTS
ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None
PART I11

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, PROMOTERS AND CONTROL PERSONS

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following selected information for each of the company's current executive officers was
prepared as of December 15, 2000.

OFFICERS AND POSITIONS WITH
NAME AGE NAVISTAR AND OTHER INFORMATION

John R. HOME......covveeveririrane 62 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer since 1996
and
a Director since 1990. Mr. Horne also is Chairman,
President and Chief Executive Officer of International since
1995 and a Director since 1987. Prior to this, Mr. Horne
served as President and Chief Executive Officer, 1995-1996,
President and Chief Operating Officer, 1990-1995.

Robert C. Lannert.................... 60 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer and a
Director since 1990. Mr. Lannert also is Executive Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of International since
1990 and a Director since 1987.

Robert A. Boardman.............. 53 Senior Vice President and General Counsel since 1990. Mr.
Boardman also is Senior Vice President and General Counsel
of International since 1990.

Thomas M. Hough.................. 55 Vice President and Treasurer since 1992. Mr. Hough also is Vice
President and Treasurer of International since 1992.

Mark T. Schwetschenau....... 44 Vice President and Controller since 1998.  Mr. Schwetschenau
also is Vice President and Controller of International since
1998. Prior to this, Mr. Schwetschenau served as Vice
President, Finance, Quaker Foods Division, the Quaker Oats
Company, 1995-1997, and Director, Finance, Convenience
Foods Division, the Quaker Oats Company, 1993-1995.

Mary P. Cahill..........c.cccoeornrrnnee. 46 Corporate Secretary since 2000. Ms. Cahill also is Associate
General Counsel of International since 1996.

Other information required by Item 10 of this Form is incorporated herein by reference from
Navistar's definitive Proxy Statement for the February 20, 2001 Annual Meeting of Shareowners.
ITEMS11, 12 AND 13

Information required by Items 11, 12 and 13 of this Form isincorporated herein by reference from
Navistar's definitive Proxy Statement for the February 20, 2001 Annual Meeting of Shareowners.



PART IV

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULESAND REPORTSON FORM 8-K

Financial Statements

See Item 8 — Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Schedule Page
I Vauation and Qualifying ACCOUNS aNA RESEIVES..........ccecceevveeeenetsesesssssssesssssss s ssssssssnssns F-1

Thisfinancial statement schedule of the company is filed as part of this Form 10-K and should be
read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements, and related notes thereto, of the
company. All other schedules are omitted because of the absence of the conditions under which they

are required or because information called for is shown in the consolidated financial statements and
notes thereto.

Finance and Insurance Subsidiaries;

The consolidated financial statements of Navistar Financial Corporation for the years ended October
31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 appearing on pages 11 through 39 in the Annua Report on Form 10-K for
Navistar Financial Corporation for the fiscal year ended October 31, 2000, Commission File No. 1-4146-
1, are incorporated herein by reference and filed as Exhibit 28 to this Form 10-K.

Exhibits Page
(3)  Artidesof INCOrporation and BY-LAWS..........ccuernmerrmeseesnneseessesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssmssssssssssses E-1
(4)  Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders,

INAUAING INGEMIUIES........oorreevvesesseesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssesssssssssssssesses E-2

(L0)  IMBEHTE COMMIBOLS.....orrereeeereeeeeeeeeeeseessesesssssssssssssessessessessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssss s sssssssees E-4

(21)  SUDSAAIESOf tEREJIATAM........oooereeeerssereesesssssssessssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssesssssssssesssssssssssssssssssnes E-7
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*Filed only electronically with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

All exhibits other than those indicated above are omitted because of the absence of the conditions
under which they are required or because the information called for is shown in the financial statements
and notes thereto in the 2000 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Exhibits, other than those incorporated by reference, have been included in copies of thisreport filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Shareowners of the company will be provided with
copies of these exhibits upon written request to the Corporate Secretary at the address given on the cover
page of this Form 10-K.

Reports on Form 8-K

The company filed a current report on Form 8-K with the Commission on October 31, 2000 in
which the company announced a fourth quarter charge against earnings related to restructuring
operations and launching a series of new products.



NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused thisreport to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly

authorized.

NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
(Registrant)

/s/ _Mark T. Schwetschenau
Mark T. Schwetschenau December 20, 2000
Vice President and Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)




EXHIBIT 24

NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears below does hereby make, constitute and appoint John R.
Horne, Robert C. Lannert and Mark T. Schwetschenau and each of them acting individually, true and
lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents with power to act without the other and with full power of
substitution, to execute, deliver and file, for and on such person's behalf, and in such person's name and
capacity or capacities as stated below, any amendment, exhibit or supplement to the Form 10-K Report
making such changes in the report as such attorney-in-fact deems appropriate.

SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed

below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates
indicated:

Signature Title Date

/9 John R. Horne
John R. Horne Chairman of the Board, December 20, 2000
President and
Chief Executive Officer,
and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

/9 Robert C. Lannert
Robert C. Lannert Executive Vice President December 20, 2000
and Chief Financia Officer
and Director
(Principal Financial Officer)

/s _Mark T. Schwetschenau
Mark T. Schwetschenau Vice President and Controller December 20, 2000
(Principal Accounting Officer)

/sl William F. Andrews
William F. Andrews Director December 20, 2000




EXHIBIT 24 (CONTINUED)

NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

SIGNATURES (Continued)

Signature Title Date

/9 Y. MarcBdton
Y. Marc Belton Director December 20, 2000

/9 John D. Correnti
John D. Correnti Director December 20, 2000

/9 Jerry E. Dempsey
Jerry E. Dempsey Director December 20, 2000

/9 _Dr. Abbie J. Griffin
Dr. Abbie J. Griffin Director December 20, 2000

/9 Michad N. Hammes
Michael N. Hammes Director
December 20, 2000

/sl Paul C. Korman
Paul C. Korman Director December 20, 2000

/9 Allen J. Krowe
Allen J. Krowe Director December 20, 2000

/s/_Southwood J. (Woody) Morcott
Southwood J. (Woody) Morcott Director December 20, 2000

/9 William F. Patient
William F. Patient Director December 20, 2000




NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

EXHIBIT 23
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS CONSENT

Navistar International Corporation:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements, including post-
effective amendments, No. 2-70979, No. 33-26847, No. 333-25783, No. 333-29735, No. 333-29739,
No. 333-29301 and No. 333-77781 of Navistar International Corporation, all on Form S-8, of our
report dated December 11, 2000, relating to the financial statements and financial statement schedule of
Navistar International Corporation and of the financial statements of Navistar Financial Corporation,
appearing and incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Navistar International
Corporation for the year ended October 31, 2000.

Deloitte & ToucheLLp
December 20, 2000
Chicago, lllinois



SCHEDULEII

NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES
FOR THE YEARS ENDED OCTOBER 31, 2000, 1999 AND 1998
(MILLIONS OF DOLLARS)

COLUMN A COLUMN B COLUMN C COLUMN D COLUMN E
DESCRIPTION DEDUCTIONS FROM
RESERVES
BALANCE
AT ADDITIONS BALANCE
DESCRIPTION DEDUCTED BEGINNING CHARGED AT END
OF RESERVES FROM OF YEAR TO INCOME DESCRIPTION AMOUNT OF YEAR

Reserves deducted
from assets to
from assets to

which they
apply:
2000
- Uncollectible notes
and accounts
Allowance for Notes and written off and
losses on accounts reserve adjustment,
receivables........ receivable....... $ 36 $ 35 less recoveries...... $ 32 $ 39
1999
Uncollectible notes
and accounts
Allowance for Notes and written off and
losses on accounts reserve adjustment,
receivables........ receivable....... $ 33 $ 14 less recoveries...... $ 11 $ 36
1998
- Uncollectible notes
and accounts
Allowance for Notes and written off and
losses on accounts reserve adjustment,

receivables........ receivable....... $ 31 $ 14 less recoveries...... $ 12 $ 33



3.1

3.2

3.3

EXHIBIT 3

NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION AND BY-LAWS

The following documents of Navistar International Corporation are incorporated herein by
reference:

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Navistar International Corporation effective July 1,
1993, filed as Exhibit 3.2 to Annual Report on Form 10-K dated October 31, 1993, which was
filed on January 27, 1994, Commission File No. 1-9618, and amended as of May 4, 1998.

The By-Laws of Navistar International Corporation effective April 14, 1995, filed as Exhibit
3.2 on Annual Report on Form 10-K dated October 31, 1995, which was filed on January 26,
1996, on Commission File No. 1-9618.

Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of Junior Participating Preferred Stock,
Series A of Navistar International Corporation. Filed as Exhibit 3.3 to Form 10-Q dated June
11, 1999. Commission File No. 1-9618.



EXHIBIT 4

NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
INSTRUMENTS DEFINING RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS,
INCLUDING INDENTURES

The following instruments of Navistar International Corporation and its principal subsidiary

International Truck and Engine Corporation, formerly Navistar International Transportation Corp., and
its principal subsidiary Navistar Financial Corporation defining the rights of security holders are
incorporated herein by reference.

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

Indenture, dated as of May 30, 1997, by and between Navistar Financial Corporation and The
Fuji Bank and Trust Company, as Trustee, for 9% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2002 for
$100,000,000. Filed on Registration No. 333-30167.

$125,000,000 Credit Agreement dated as of November 26, 1997, as amended by
Amendment No. 1 dated as of February 4, 1998, and as amended by Amendment No. 2 dated as
of July 10, 1998, among Navistar International Corporation Mexico, S.A. de C.V., Navistar
International Corporation, certain banks, certain Co-Arranger banks, Bank of Montreal, as
Paying Agent, and Bancomer, S.A., Institucion de Banca Multiple, Grupo Financiero, as Peso
Agent and Collateral Agent. The Registrant agrees to furnish to the Commission upon request
a copy of such agreement which it has elected not to file under the provisions of Regulation
601(b) (4) (iii).

Indenture, dated as of February 4, 1998, by and between Navistar International Corporation and
Harris Trust and Savings Bank, as Trustee, for 7% Senior Notes due 2003 for $100,000,000.
Filed on Registration No. 333-47063.

Indenture, dated as of February 4, 1998, by and between Navistar International Corporation and
Harris Trust and Savings Bank, as Trustee, for 8% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2008 for
$250,000,000. Filed on Registration No. 333-47063.

$45,000,000 Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of June 5, 1998 as amended by
Amendment No. 1 dated as of January 1, 1999, and as amended by Amendment No. 2 dated
as of April 9, 1999, as amended by Amendment No. 3 dated as of July 1999, among
Arrendadora Financiera Navistar S.A. de C.V., Servicios Financieros Navistar S.A. de C.V. and
Navistar Comercial S.A. de C.V. and The First National Bank of Chicago. The Registrant agrees
to furnish to the Commission upon request a copy of such agreement which it has elected not to
file under the provisions of Regulation 601(b)(4)(iii).

$200,000,000 Mexican Peso Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of October 20, 1998 as
amended by Amendment No. 1 dated as of November 12, 1999, among Arrendadora
Financiera Navistar S.A. de C.V., Servicios Financieros Navistar S.A. de C.V. and Navistar
Comercial S.A. de C.V. and Comerica Bank. The Registrant agrees to furnish to the Commission
upon request a copy of such agreement which it has elected not to file under the provisions of
Regulation 601(b)(4)(iii).



EXHIBIT 4 (CONTINUED)

NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
INSTRUMENTS DEFINING RIGHTS OF SECURITY HOLDERS,
INCLUDING INDENTURES

4.7 $8,000,000 Mexican Peso Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of October 9, 1998 by and
between Arrendadora Financiera Navistar S.A. de C.V. and Banco Bilbao Vizcaya. The
Registrant agrees to furnish to the Commission upon request a copy of such agreement which it
has elected not to file under the provisions of Regulation 601(b)(4)(iii).

4.8 $27,000,000 Mexican Peso Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of October 9, 1998 by and
between Servicios Financieros Navistar S.A. de C.V. and Banco Bilbao Vizcaya. The Registrant
agrees to furnish to the Commission upon request a copy of such agreement which it has elected
not to file under the provisions of Regulation 601(b)(4)(iii).

4.9 Rights Agreement dated as of April 20, 1999 between Navistar International Corporation and
Harris Trust and Savings Bank, as Rights Agent, including the form of Certificate of
Designation, Preferences and Rights of Junior Participating Preferred Stock, Series A attached
thereto as Exhibit A, and the form of Rights Certificate attached thereto as Exhibit B. Filed
as Exhibit 1.1 to the company’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A, dated April 20, 1999.
Commission File No. 1-9618.

4.10 $53,000,000 Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of July 9, 1999 as amended by
Amendment No. 1 dated as of September 15, 1999, among Arrendadora Financiera Navistar
S.A. de C.V., Servicios Financieros Navistar S.A. de C.V. and Navistar Comercial S.A. de C.V. and
Banco Nacional de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. The Registrant agrees to furnish to the Commission
upon request a copy of such agreement which it has elected not to file under the provisions of
Regulation 601(b)(4)(iii).

4.11 $20,000,000 Credit Agreement dated as of August 10, 1999 by and between Arrendadora
Financiera Navistar S.A. de C.V. and Bancomer. The Registrant agrees to furnish to the
Commission upon request a copy of such agreement which it has elected not to file under the
provisions of Regulation 601(b)(4)(iii).

4.12 $200,000,000 Mexican Peso Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of August 10, 1999 by and
between Servicios Financieros Navistar S.A. de C.V. and Bancomer.

4.13 $95,000,000 Forward contract dated as of April 20, 2000 by and between Navistar
International Corporation and Royal Bank of Canada. The Registrant agrees to furnish to the
Commission upon request a copy of such agreement which it has elected not to file under the
provisions of Regulation 601(b)(4)(iii).

Instruments defining the rights of holders of other unregistered long-term debt of Navistar and its
subsidiaries have been omitted from this exhibit index because the amount of debt authorized under any
such instrument does not exceed 10% of the total assets of the Registrant and its consolidated
subsidiaries. The Registrant agrees to furnish a copy of any such instrument to the Commission upon
request.



EXHIBIT 10

NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The following documents of Navistar International Corporation and its affiliate Navistar Financial
Corporation are incorporated herein by reference.

10.1*

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

Navistar International Corporation 1984 Stock Option Plan. Filed as Exhibit A to Proxy
Statement dated February 6, 1984. Commission File No. 1-5236.

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of November 4, 1994 among Navistar
Financial Corporation, certain banks, certain Co-Arranger banks, and Morgan Guaranty
Trust Company of New York, as Administrative Agent. Filed on Form 8-K dated
November 4, 1994. Commission File No. 1-4146-1.

Pooling and Servicing Agreement dated as of June 8, 1995, among Navistar Financial
Corporation, as Servicer, Navistar Financial Securities Corporation, as Seller, The Chase
Manhattan Bank (survivor in the merger between The Chase Manhattan Bank and
Chemical Bank which was the survivor in the merger between Chemical Bank and
Manufacturers Hanover Trust Company), as 1990 Trust Trustee, and The Bank of New
York, as Master Trust Trustee. Filed on Registration No. 33-87374.

Amendment No. 2 dated as of March 29, 1996, to the Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement dated as of November 4, 1994, as amended by Amendment No. 1 dated as of
December 15, 1995, among Navistar Financial Corporation, certain banks, certain Co-
Arranger banks, and Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York, as Administrative
Agent filed on Form 8-K dated June 5, 1996. Commission File No. 1-4146-1.

Indenture dated as of May 30, 1996, between Navistar Financial 1996-A Owner Trust and
The Bank of New York, as Indenture Trustee, with respect to Navistar Financial 1996-A
Owner Trust. Filed on Registration No. 33-55865.

Indenture dated as of November 6, 1996, between Navistar Financial 1996-B Owner Trust
and The Bank of New York, as Indenture Trustee, with respect to Navistar Financial
1996-B Owner Trust. Filed on Registration No. 33-55865.

Indenture dated as of May 7, 1997, between Navistar Financial 1997-A Owner Trust and
The Bank of New York, as Indenture Trustee, with respect to Navistar Financial 1997-A
Owner Trust. Filed on Registration No. 33-55865.

Amendment No. 3 dated as of May 27, 1997, to the Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement dated as of November 4, 1994, as amended by Amendment No. 1 dated as of
December 15, 1995 and Amendment No. 2 dated as of March 29, 1996, among Navistar
Financial Corporation, certain banks, certain Co-Arranger banks, and Morgan Guaranty
Trust Company of New York, as Administrative Agent filed on Form 8-K dated June 17,
1997. Commission File No. 1-4146-1.



10.9*

10.10*

10.11

10.12*

10.13*

10.14

10.15*

10.16

10.17*

10.18

10.19

EXHIBIT 10 (CONTINUED)

NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Form of Executive Severance Agreement which is executed with all executive officers
dated June 16, 1997. Filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Form 10-Q dated September 12, 1997.
Commission File No. 1-9618.

Navistar International Corporation Stock Ownership Program. Filed as Exhibit 10.20 to
Form 10-Q dated September 12, 1997. Commission File No. 1-9618.

Indenture dated as of November 5, 1997, between Navistar Financial 1997-B Owner Trust
and The Bank of New York, as Indenture Trustee, with respect to Navistar Financial
1997-B Owner Trust. Filed on Registration No. 33-64249.

Navistar 1988 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan amended as of March 20,
1996. Filed as Exhibit 10.19 to Form 10-K dated December 22, 1997. Commission File
No. 1-9618.

Navistar 1998 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan. Filed as Exhibit 10.20 to
Form 10-Q dated March 17, 1998. Commission File No. 1-9618.

Indenture dated as of June 4, 1998, between Navistar Financial 1998-A Owner Trust and
The Bank of New York, as Indenture Trustee, with respect to Navistar Financial 1998-A
Owner Trust. Filed on Registration No. 33-64249.

Navistar International Corporation 1998 Interim Stock Plan. Filed as Exhibit 10.21 to
Form 10-Q dated June 12, 1998. Commission File No. 1-9618.

Transfer and Administration Agreement dated as of November 13, 1998, between
Navistar Financial Corporation, as Servicer, and Navistar Financial Retail Receivables
Corporation, as Transferor, Park Avenue Receivables Corporation, as Purchaser, and The
Chase Manhattan Bank, as Funding Agent and APA Bank. Filed on Form 8-K dated
December 18, 1998. Commission File No. 33-64249.

Navistar 1994 Performance Incentive Plan amended as of October 13, 1998. Filed as
Exhibit 10.19 to Form 10-K dated December 22, 1998. Commission File No. 1-9618.

Trust Agreement dated as of June 3, 1999, between Navistar Financial Retail Receivables
Corporation, as Seller, and Chase Manhattan Bank Delaware, as Owner Trustee, with
respect to Navistar Financial 1999-A Owner Trust. Filed on Registration No. 333-
62445.

Indenture dated as of June 3, 1999, between Navistar Financial 1999-A Owner Trust and
The Bank of New York, as Indenture Trustee, with respect to Navistar Financial 1999-A
Owner Trust. Filed on Registration No. 333-62445.



EXHIBIT 10 (CONTINUED)

NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

10.20 Receivable Purchase Agreement dated as of November 12, 1999, between Navistar
Financial Retail Receivables Corporation, as Seller, Navistar Financial Corporation, as
Servicer, and Falcon Asset Securitization Corporation and International Securitization
Corporation, as investors, and Bank One NA as agent and as Securities Intermediary, with
respect to Navistar Financial 1999-B Multi-seller Asset-backed Commercial Paper
Conduit. Filed on Registration No. 333-62445.

10.21* Navistar 1998 Supplemental Stock Plan. Filed as Exhibit 10.21 to Form 10-K dated
December 22, 1999. Commission File No. 1-9618.

10.22 Indenture dated as of March 9, 2000, between Navistar Financial 2000-A Owner Trust
and The Bank of New York, as Indenture Trustee, with respect to Navistar Financial
2000-A Owner Trust. Filed on Registration No. 333-62445.

10.23 Indenture dated as of November 1, 2000, between Navistar Financial 2000-A Owner Trust
and The Bank of New York, as Indenture Trustee, with respect to Navistar Financial 2000-
B Owner Trust. Filed on Registration No. 333-62445.

* Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an
exhibit to this report pursuant to Item 14(c).



EXHIBIT 21

NAVISTAR INTERNATIONAL CORPORATION
AND CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

AS OF OCTOBER 31, 2000

STATE OR
COUNTRY IN
WHICH
SUBSIDIARY
ORGANIZED
Subsidiary included in the financial
statements, which is 100% owned:
Internationa Truck and ENGiNe COMPOTatiON...........vuueereesreeseeseessesseessesssesesssesssesesssessssssens Deaware
Subsidiaries that are 100% owned by International
Truck and Engine Corporation:
Internationa Truck and Engine Corporation CanadaL.............cceereereeneeneeneeneenseneensensenes Canada
Navigar FNANCIEl COMPOTEiON..........reeeemseeressseeesssssesssssssssssssssssessssssssessssssssesssssssessssssssesssssens Deaware

Subsidiaries and corporate joint ventures not shown by name in the above listing, if considered in the
aggregate as a single subsidiary, would not constitute a significant subsidiary.



